

PROFITABLE LOCAL CLIMATE NEWS

A thesis on how the Norwegian commercial Amedia-owned newspapers might benefit from a universal practise when covering cases about the climate and environment.

By: Julia Doksæter Horn

Master in Energy, Environment and Society Department of Media and Social Sciences Spring 2021

UNIVERSITY OF STAVANGER

MASTER'S DEGREE IN

Energy, Environment and Society

CANDIDATE NUMBER: 4800

SEMESTER: Spring 2021

AUTHOR: Julia Doksæter Horn

SUPERVISOR: Espen Reiss Mathiesen

MASTER THESIS TITLE: PROFITABLE LOCAL CLIMATE NEWS

SUBJECT WORDS/KEY WORDS: Climate- and environment news, Norwegian media, Amedia, local newspapers, social responsibility, economic profit, universal practise.

PAGES: 65

STAVANGER: 15.06.2021

Contents

Abstractiv
1.0 Introduction
1.1 Problem Statement and Research Questions
1.2 The Social Responsibility and the Ethical Regulations of the Media
1.3 Personal Experience and The Editorial Dilemma5
1.4 Topic Background and History6
1.5 The Common Debate
2.0 Theory
2.1 Personification – What Happens When Readers Emotions are Triggered?11
2.2 News Photos – Is Identification Through Text the Only Way Readers Curiosity Can Be Triggered?
2.3 The News Criteria – What are News and How Do They Shape Us?12
2.4 Place-identity – What Are Readers Expected to Care About and What Do They Care
About?
2.5 Journalists as Educators – How and Why Do Readers Want to Learn?14
3.0 Method
3.1 Language
3.2 Selection
3.3 The Text Analysis
3.4 Informants, Information Letter and Declaration of Consent
3.5 Data Collection and Storage
3.6 The Method's Credibility27
4.0 Findings – The Success Factors
4.1 Length
4.2 Sources
4.3 The News Criteria

4.4 The Main Photo	43
4.5 Geography	47
4.6 Publishing Time	48
4.7 The Contents of an Economically Profitable Article	50
5.0 Discussion – Economy Vs. Social Responsibility	51
5.1 Sources – We Want to Read About People	51
5.2 Main photo – The Influence of Animals and Faces	55
5.3 The News Criteria – Guidelines, But No Recipe	58
5.4 Geography – We Care About What Happens Close to Home	59
5.5 The Commercial Universal Practise	61
6.0 Conclusion	64
References	66

Abstract

In the commercial media world, it is necessary not to consider economic profit and the press' social responsibility as separate goals, but rather two sides of the same coin – making the public wanting to learn and read the articles published. This thesis presents data that would be necessary to secure an economic profit, and at the same time making sure that the social responsibility of the press is sufficiently fulfilled. It presents an overview of the history and current dilemmas related to climate news and suggests some factors that might increase engagement and sales. The thesis also provides a critical approach to how well these factors contributes to fulfilling the media's social responsibility. The conclusions drawn argues that some of the factors can contribute to fulfilling the social responsibility as well as generating engagement and sales if used as tools to trigger the readers' curiosity and consequently willingness to learn by reading the article. Finally, based on the findings presented, it is suggested that it should both be both doable and beneficial to have an internal universal practise with some factors needed to write news about the climate and environment that both generates engagement and sales, and fulfils the social responsibility.

1.0 Introduction

Today, we scroll, scroll, scroll, and scroll on our screens to only see a fraction of the whole world of social media and its endless stream of impressions. We now more than ever seek comfort, knowledge, and entertainment in the digital world, which has answers to all the questions we might think of and to all we did not know we had. Fighting for our attention today is harder than ever because who can compete with social media? This is a challenge the media faces every day, and even though social media offers vast opportunities to spread and find news, the media's agenda is now competing with the agenda that the public follow (Sjøvaag, 2020, p. 20). An agenda that not always line up with the rights and duties of the media. Sjøvaag writes that as part of the social contract between the public, media and the state, the state has a right to report news uncensored and a duty to supervise the power of the state, the state has a right to adjust the media. The media can, according to the contract, also expect the public to react to the information they are given (2020, p. 29). The problem is that the public cannot be forced to read news, and hence, in practise the media cannot count on reactions from the public.

However, it is crucial for the democracy that the public do read the news and react to what they read in order to be part of the deciding society. That is why the media often have to prioritize news that are relevant for the readers' need for being updated, get necessary information, and entertainment – in other words, news that are part of the publics' agenda (Sjøvaag, 2020, p. 49). A study conducted in 2019 about the content diversity in the Norwegian media show that the media – local as well as national – tend to write more about sports and politics, and less about the elaborate news such as finance and energy (Sjøvaag, 2020). It is not cheap to run a commercial news production that fulfils the media's social responsibility, a responsibility that is explained through the role they play in the social contact. The fact is that the large income does not come from the investigative, often complicated journalism, but the day to day news that are entertaining and lifestyle oriented (Sjøvaag, 2020, p. 47).

But could the "difficult topics" become "fruitful topics" by doing simple content adjustments? There are studies done to enlighten the framing of climate news, and the importance of climate news as part of the media's social responsibility and the difficulties related to engagement. However, the question of how climate news can become more economic profitable and still contribute to fulfilling the social responsibility of the media has not been paid as much attention in the academic world.

That is why I want to investigate how local newspapers can write news about a topic that is considered challenging in relation to engaging the public, and that generates sales and make the topic a part of an agenda that the public *wants* to follow. One of the topics written less about from the content-study of 2019 was "energy", which is why the topic of climate and environment is chosen to be studied in this thesis.

1.1 Problem Statement and Research Questions

Based on this, the problem statement to be discussed in this thesis is:

"The commercial media house Amedia would benefit from having a research-based universal practise for their local newspapers in relation to writing articles with climate and environment as the main topic, because it would contribute to fulfilling their social responsibility and generate more engagement and sales."

Amedia is the second largest media group in Norway when measured by turnover, and owns 78 subscription-newspapers based all over the country (Garvik, 2020). The Amedia newspapers are commercial, which means that they depend on having paying readers and advertisers to secure a profit (Aaberge, 2018). Despite Amedia being a commercial media group, its newspapers do not solemnly depend on commercials to gain a profit. Subscription sales are crucial for the newspapers to be able to secure a profit and is the main source of income, which means that they have to make sure they satisfy their subscribers to secure a profit. Compared to tabloid medias, the power lies not with the advertisers, but with the paying subscribers.

Editorial development manager Eivor Jerpåsen in Amedia explains that it in effect means that Amedia newspapers are free to write news they think their subscribers wants and needs to read about their local community (2021b). A "universal best practise" is in this case the best possible way of writing articles about the climate and environment in relation to achieving high engagement generate sales, while at the same time fulfilling the newspapers' social responsibility. By analysing Amedia news articles with climate and environment as the main topic, I can hopefully enlighten specific factors in the articles that could be important for the engagement and sales and discuss to which degree the factors contribute to fulfilling the social responsibility of the newspapers. In doing so, I might be able to suggest a universal best practise of how Amedia newspapers could write about the climate and environment, that they would consider fruitful. There are three research questions that will be discussed to be able to enlighten the problem statement of the thesis. The first research question will be answered as part of the findings chapter, by using the findings discovered through the quantitative text analysis of 100 articles produced by Amedia-newspapers. The second and third research questions will be enlightened in the discussion chapter by considering selected findings in relation to relevant theory presented in this thesis.

- 1. What are the factors that could affect engagement and sales in digital news articles written with climate and environment as the main theme?
- 2. What could be the consequences related to the local newspapers' social responsibility of writing digital news articles with climate and environment as the main theme that 1. *Do* include set factors and 2. *Do not* include set factors?
- 3. Could and in what way a universal practise in relation to covering cases with climate and environment as the main topic contribute to *both* public education *and* increased engagement and sales?

The word "engagement" is used frequently throughout the thesis and is another word for the average reading time which will be further explained in the methods chapter. Engagement and sales generated will be used as measurements to indicate the economic successfulness of the articles. "News" is something that has just happened or something we just heard about (Overland & Tørdal, 2018), and hence a "news article" is an article about news. In the following subchapters we will take a closer look at what is meant by the social responsibility of the media, the history of climate and environment news, and the common debate about the commercial media's interests and priorities, to get a better sense of the aspects of the topic in this thesis.

1.2 The Social Responsibility and the Ethical Regulations of the Media

The media's social responsibility is relevant to this thesis, because it is the fundament to a democracy and self-imposed duty that involves preparing the citizens to make rational and well-informed social and political decisions (Sjøvaag, 2020). Without it, the society would be without a watch dog making sure no abuse goes uncriticised or no questionable conditions being informed of and questioned, which in term could lead to a weakening of the democracy. Hence, if articles achieve high engagements and number of sales, but do not fulfil the social responsibility of the media, it can be argued that the Amedia-newspapers are not fully doing their job. Before explaining how I intend to discuss the fulfilment of the social responsibility in relation to certain factors in Amedia-articles; it is necessary to inform the reader about the

Norwegian media's ethical regulations that was first introduced in 1936, and later revised. "Pressens Faglige Utvalg" (PFU), which is directly translated to "The Media's Professional Committee" in English, is a professional committee chosen by the Norwegian Press Association who has the task of *"monitoring and promoting the Norwegian ethical professional standard"* (Orgeret, 2018b). The task includes ensuring that the standard is maintained, which is why "Vær Varsom-plakaten" (VVP), directly translated to "The poster of being careful" in English, was written. It consists of four paragraphs with rules designed to guide the Norwegian media towards maintaining an ethical professional standard, which they are obliged to follow (Norsk Presseforbund, 2015). If someone experiences that a newspaper breaks one or more of the rules in the VVP, he or she is free to report the newspaper to PFU. The reported newspaper face consequences if PFU finds that the reported rules are indeed broken, and the newspaper have to publish both PFU's justification of their decision, correct any errors and apologise to the offendant on behalf of the newspaper on all publishing platforms – which includes both in the printed and digital version of the convicted newspaper (Orgeret, 2018b).

VVP works as both rules and tools for the Norwegian media to ensure that they fulfil their social responsibility. The first paragraph of the VVP is called "the media's social role" and is a full specific description of what the media's social responsibility entails. Paragraph 1 as a whole will be used when discussing the factors that might have contributed to increased engagement and sales. The following paragraphs is directly translated and presented as it is written in the Norwegian Press Association:

- 1.1. Freedom of speech, information and press are basis in a democracy. A free, independent press is among the most important institutions in a democratic society.
- 1.2. The press takes care of important tasks such as information, debate, and social criticism. The press has a special responsibility of making sure that different opinions are expressed.
- 1.3. The press shall protect the freedom of speech and press and the principle of openness. It cannot give in to pressure from someone who wants to stop open debate, free information dissemination and free access to the sources. Agreements on exclusive dissemination of events shall not be an obstacle to free news dissemination.
- 1.4. It is the press' right to inform about the things that happens in the society and uncover criticisable conditions. It is the press' duty to shed a critical light on how the media fulfils their social responsibility.

1.5. It is the press' job to protect individuals and groups against abuse or negligence from the public authorities and institutions, private companies, or others.

(Norsk Presseforbund, 2015).

Some argue that the Norwegian media overall fulfil their social responsibility (Sjøvaag, 2020) and some are of the opinion that the media globally has lost its ability to be critical, and has taken the role of primarily being entertainers to generate more sales (Aalberg & Elvestad, 2005; Habermas, 2006). My intention with this thesis is not to undermine the crucial role the media plays in a democratic society or claim that they do not in any way fulfil their social responsibility, but to investigate if Amedia with small actions that would not cost large resources, could make more news about the climate and environment that results in an economic profit, while still making sure they sufficiently fulfil the social responsibility. If the factors that might contribute to increased engagement and sales do not contribute positively to parts of paragraph 1 of the VVP, one could argue that the articles not fully fulfilling the newspaper's social responsibility.

1.3 Personal Experience and The Editorial Dilemma

I have worked as a journalist for three of the local newspapers owned by Amedia since 2011 and experienced how difficult it can be to write articles that are both informative and achieves high engagement among the public. I have often seen the challenges with writing sensational news that not necessarily are as informative as I wished they were, because of the struggle it is to appeal to the public with topics that are more complicated to write about, to read about and react to.

In addition to working as a journalist writing news articles, I have since 2018 worked as a "frontsjef" (translated to "acting web editor" in English) in two of the three mentioned Amediaowned newspapers. The area of responsibility involves deciding which articles should be placed high on the digital news page, and which should be less exposed. The articles that have the most readers at one time are often placed higher up on the news page to increase their exposure, to in term – hopefully – generate new subscription sales.

The tendency I have seen throughout the years of being a journalist in local newspapers in the Amedia group, is that articles with elements of entertainment or sensation gain higher reading numbers and generate more subscription sales. This experience-based statement is supported by the American Media Expert, Neil Postman, who argue that the public wants to be entertained at all costs, which leads the media to shift their focus from hard, factual news to amusing, "fast"

news (Postman, 1985). This change in the media landscape could make it harder for the editor of a newspaper to allow their journalists to spend hours on an article about a topic, that might be important in the aspect of the media's social responsibility but lack the potential of resulting in high reading numbers and new paying subscribers.

According to Jerpåsen in Amedia, articles about the climate and environment often demands more work, because the topic is comprehensive and often of national or international interest, which could make it difficult to break down into articles that will engage local subscribers. Hence, articles about this topic do not regularly result in as high of an average reading time and number of new paying subscribers they should to justify the time spent on writing them (Jerpåsen, 2021b).The average reading time of an article is how Amedia measures engagement, which will be explained in the methods chapter. It is not only Amedia that recognises challenges in relation to climate and environment news. This spring (2021) the Swedish newspaper Expressen saw the need to close the climate editorial office, due to lack of interest in climate and environment news from readers (Aarli-Grøndalen, 2021). However, the editorin-chief said they would still write news about the topic, but that they had to try other reporting methods (2021).

Despite the challenges of generating engagement and sales in relation to climate and environment news, Jerpåsen says that the Amedia-newspapers still have increased the number of articles written about the topic in the recent years because it has become a topic that their readers more than before are interested in. Jerpåsen says that Amedia consider climate and environment as an equal important topic to write about in relation to the social responsibility as for instance culture, sports and politics, but the challenge is to figure out a way to write about the topic in a way that engages local subscribers (Jerpåsen, 2021a).

1.4 Topic Background and History

The Norwegian media coverage of cases considering the climate and environment reached a turning point in 2019 and became *the year* of climate- and environmental journalism. According to an analysis done by the Norwegian data analysis company "Retriever" the number of media spreads on climate goals and CO₂-emissions increased with a hundred percent from 2019 to 2020. 25.406 media spreads were made about the topic in 2019 compared to 12.420 the year before (Falnes, 2020). The journalist Johan Falnes in Norsk Telegrambyrå (NTB), the central news agency in Norway, writes that many of the spreads were made due to the aftereffects of the Swedish student Greta Thunberg's protest against climate change during

the Swedish political election at the end of 2018. She was 15 years old at the time, and her protesting made her the front figure of school strikes against climate change all over the world in the beginning of 2019 (Garvik & Tjernshaugen, 2019).

In addition to Greta Thunberg's movement, wind energy and the development and construction of wind turbines took hold in 2019, which triggered many debates and resulted in a tripling of media spreads about the topic of wind power compared to 2018 (Falnes, 2020).

In conclusion, there are many factors that made 2019 the year of media spreads about the climate and environment. Although 2019 was a turning point for the mentioned topic in relation to a considerably increase in the Norwegian media coverage, I have chosen the year of 2020 to analyse a selection of local, digital news articles. The reason for that being to make sure that it was not a volatile trend but a more permanent change, to increase the chances of the selection being representative. This statement is supported by a newer analysis done by Retriever in cooperation with the Norwegian Directorate for Development Cooperation (Norad). The analysis shows that the number of media articles written up until September 2020 has decreased slightly compared to 2019 but is still high. 3,4 percent of the articles written in 2019 had climate and environment as their topic, and in 2020 (up until September) the share has decreased to being 3 percent (Retriver & Norad, 2020, p. 6). Despite the slight decrease, the change is clear according to Retriver: Norwegian media have been producing considerably more spreads about the climate and environment since 2019.

In the wake of the topic now being an important part of the Norwegian media's agenda, the national Norwegian broadcast Norsk Rikskringkastning (NRK) released a new collective strategy in 2020 explaining amongst other things how the editorial offices are to produce content about the climate and environment (Norsk Rikskringkastning, 2020). This strategy is the first of its kind in Norway, and introduces the main goal of NRK's journalism about the climate and environment is to "(...) enable everyone in Norway to participate in climate discussions and make good choices, and thus strengthen and develop democracy" (Norsk Rikskringkastning, 2020). NRK is a state-owned broadcaster with 15 district and local offices (Enli, Smith-Meyer, & Syvertsen, 2020). Because it is state-owned, all their TV, radio and written productions are free of commercials and with no fees to get access for the public, which means that they are not dependent on gaining daily new paying subscribers.

The reason for introducing NRK's strategy is that I want to discuss how it can be further developed into a best universal practise with recommendations that offers more specific tools,

that commercial media houses such as Amedia might benefit from. After the first conversation I had with an employee in the Amedia group, I established that they do not have a universal strategy regarding specific themes and content, but they recommend their newspapers to have a mix of cases about topics considering, amongst others, culture, sports, events, and housing, because Amedia has seen the positive effect on the readers' engagement when having a variety of articles, in other words *"having something for everyone (old, young, females and males)"* (Jerpåsen, 2021b). Jerpåsen explains that the reason for not having a universal strategy yet considering climate and environment news specifically is because:

"When it comes to specific topics to prioritize writing articles about, it has to be up to each newspaper to decide how they relate to the topics. That is because the newspapers have audiences who often have different content preferences, and it would due to this be difficult to construct a universal strategy related to only one topic [climate and environment]. It is better that decisions concerning prioritizing the most important content are made by the newspapers who knows their audience the best" (Jerpåsen, 2021b).

In addition to the possibility of local differences in reading patterns depending on the location of the newspapers (making it challenging to have a strategy such as NRK's climate strategy), Jerpåsen further explains that Amedia do not have an editorial power to make decisions concerning all the newspapers. They can only provide recommendations based on statistics, testing and experience (2021b). However, it would be interesting to see if the inclusion of certain factors could be part of a universal practise that would be economically and socially beneficial for Amedia-newspapers.

1.5 The Common Debate

Do today's Norwegian commercial media still fulfil their social responsibility, or are they controlled by economic interests? This question has become more and more relevant in relation to the increasingly large numbers of commercial media. Some argue that private-owned media are a necessity to achieve independence from state control in order to fully be able to carry out their social responsibility (Allern & Roppen, 2010; Sjøvaag, 2020), while others are worried that the voices shown through today's commercial media is not representative of the general public (Habermas, 2006), which in term could contribute to the media not fully carry out their social responsibility. However, most agree that for commercial media to fulfil their social responsibility they have to have an effective self-justice system in place (Allern & Roppen, 2010; Brurås, 2010; Habermas, 2006; Sjøvaag, 2020). Sigurd Allern did an analysis of 10 Norwegian newspapers and by using the sub-paragraphs of paragraph 1 of the VVP to decide

whether the articles fulfilled the social responsibility of the media. He came to the conclusion that the media generally did take their responsibility related to societal information and debate seriously (Allern, 2001). Helle Sjøvaag draws the same conclusion, and writes that the Norwegian media offers information about many areas of the society – not only entertaining or commercially profitable topics (Sjøvaag, 2020).

Jürgen Habermas on the other hand is of the opinion that commercial media can be seen as "media professionals" that "produce an elite discourse, fed by actors who struggle for access to and influence on the media." (2006, p. 417), which is further problematized by Niklas Luhmann in his system theory. The theory says that the media has created a self-referential functional system (Luhmann, 2013), and that the political actors increasingly have to adapt to the media's inner logic to get attention. This is among the reasons why Habermas argues that it is necessary with a self-justice system in the commercial media world. Such a system was created in Norway in 1928 and is what is known as PFU (Orgeret, 2018b). Brurås explains the advantages and disadvantages of PFU in an article as part of Kokkvold 2010: PFU makes the Norwegian commercial media independent of the state and has shown to be effective. Being convicted based on not properly following the VVP is seen as both uncomfortable and shameful for the convicted media house (Brurås, 2010). However, such a system does raise some questions. The first being "who will decide?" and do the ones in charge serve the interests of the media (Brurås, 2010)?. Brurås argues that when considering the pedagogical instrument in Norwegian media, there is no doubt that it has a positive effect in relation to making sure the social responsibility is fulfilled (2010).

To sum up, the common debate is often torn between the commercial media's real interests and intentions with their news production today, but some have also recognized the importance of economic profit in relation to the media's democratic role in a society (Sjøvaag, 2020). The market contributes to free the media from the state and is hence a necessity to facilitate news production that fulfils the media's social responsibility (2020). However, the specifics of just how the commercial media can *both* secure economic profits *and* fulfil their social responsibility is an aspect of the debate that I would argue is not discussed enough. Without a debate considering the economic- and social aspects of what many commercial newspapers wishes to achieve as equally important, we might overlook an increasingly and essential challenge of todays and future journalism, considering the newspapers need for fulfilling their social responsibility while achieving high engagement- and sales numbers.

Hence, the purpose of the thesis is to contribute to a needed debate on the specifics of modern commercial news production, in relation to how one can use specific factors that might contribute to articles both selling and fulfils the social responsibility of the media.

2.0 Theory

In this chapter I will introduce the different theories related to identification and what it is that triggers humans' emotions and curiosity. These theorical approaches to the way we feel, react, and learn will be central in this thesis, because they introduce reflections that will be relevant in the discussion of research question 2.

2.1 Personification – What Happens When Readers Emotions are Triggered?

What is it that make us become emotionally attached to a complete stranger's feelings? In other words, how is it that we can identify with other people without knowing them? When reading articles that have a strong sense of personification, humans might be more likely to be invested in a text because there is an increased chance of us being able to identify with the person we read about. Personification is a technique not only used in the fictional world when making films or writing books, but that has become a prominent technique used in the world of media. It can be defined as a case being made human by giving someone that has been affected by something the chance to tell his/her story through an article (Østlyngen & Øvrebø, 1999, pp. 112–113). When reading about a person our emotions tend to be triggered, either by being fond of the person, being able to relate through seeing similarities between ourselves and the person, or that we in some way are able to embrace the persons feelings through memories or previous experiences, which enables us to forget our own emotions for some time and feel what the person we read about feels – identifying with the person (Cohen, 2001, p. 252).

The ability humans have to identify with other humans is not only a way of extending our emotional and social perspective, but a crucial survival skill to fit into groups in a society (Cohen, 2001). The personification technique and the way we identify with someone we have never seen before though either written text, is relevant to the thesis in relation to discussing the use of sources, because it could contribute with interesting reflections about what role sources could play in achieving an economic as well as social profit.

2.2 News Photos – Is Identification Through Text the Only Way Readers Curiosity Can Be Triggered?

We have established in the last subchapter that identifying with people we have never met through text is one way of triggering our emotions. In addition to identification through text we could also identify with someone or something through photos, and when our emotions are triggered, we often get curious to know more: "*Photos have a great influential power. They appeal to a much greater extent to our emotions than written texts (...)*" (Tørdal 2018). If we

see a photo of a smiling face, an animal we had when we grew up or anything with qualities we can identify with, our attention is more likely to be drawn to the content of an article because it is often the first thing we see before reading any text (Meilby, 1996). The news photos qualities are not only to document an event (Løberg, 2011) but also has an effect on how we understand and store information due to the associations we get when looking at the photo (Gibson & Zillmann, 2000). For instance, when looking at photos of different animals, it is our previous experiences with the animal that determines which emotions are triggered (Jacobs, 2009). Our experiences with the animal – being positive or negative – could awaken emotions that might result in us being curious enough to read the article.

In addition to photos of animals, a study done by American researchers has shown that photos of faces online are especially something that attracts our attention, and that these kinds of photos receive greater engagement on social media (Bakhshi, Shamma, and Gilbert 2014). Analysing people's faces are something that we do intuitively from the day we are born. Our language is so much more than words, and by reading people's body language and face expressions we can see what mood they are in and what we are supposed to feel when looking at their faces – even without them saying a word (Bakhshi et al. 2014). Based on this it is natural to think that we might be able to identify with people not only through text but through photos, that could result in us becoming curious and be willing to read the article to learn more about the person/people in the photo.

The way our emotions and curiosity are triggered when seeing a photo and how photos work as attention grabbers, are relevant because it provides important information about how photos can affect our willingness to learn that will be discussed later in the thesis.

2.3 The News Criteria – What are News and How Do They Shape Us?

Today's commercial journalism is highly influenced by a set of criteria that tend to decide whether news is worth reporting on or not, which is why the criteria is relevant to this thesis. They are called News Criteria, and their purpose is to determine whether a something should be considered news or not. If this "something" is significant, has a sense of identification, sensation, relevancy, and/or conflict, then it is news that should be reported (Meilby, 1996). Some versions of the criteria includes "essentiality" as a fifth criterium (Kjendsli, 2008; Orgeret, 2018a), while others do not (Meilby, 1996). Despite the different opinions of what to include and not as a news criterium, the contents of them are similar. It is argued that the criteria should be considered as part of deciding if one should go forward with making a case news, and only fulfilling one criteria is rarely enough to carry news (Meilby, 1996, p. 55). Meilby further notes that if one of these criteria is fulfilled to a great extent, there will be less need for other criteria to be equally as fulfilled (1996). The News Criteria might be important from an economic point of view to trigger the readers' curiosity, but are they important from a social point of view considering fulfilling the media's responsibility? Looking at the criteria separately, one could argue that identification might be one of the more important out of the five criteria. According to American cognitive neuroscientist Jonathan Cohen identification "(...) is a mechanism through which audience members experience reception and interpretation of the text from the inside, as if the events were happening to them", and could be, amongst other things, a contributor to shaping the reader's identity (Cohen, 2001, pp. 245–246). Cohen further refers to the German psychologist Erik Erikson, who writes this about identification:

"Individually speaking, identity includes, but is more than, the sum of all the successive identifications of those earlier years when the child wanted to be, and often was forced to become, like the people he depended on" (Erikson, 1994, p. 87).

In other words, the way we identify with information and impressions in our society contribute to shaping our identity. Identity-shaping through facilitating debate and making sure different opinions are being expressed through articles is also a part of the media's social responsibility. Hence, the reader being able to identify with aspects of an article could be an important factor in their identity-shaping. The importance of identification in relation to both economic profit and the social responsibility, will be further discussed in the discussion part of the thesis.

2.4 Place-identity – What Are Readers Expected to Care About and What Do They Care About?

The Norwegian media landscape consists of both local and national media who in total provide a diverse news image (Sjøvaag, 2020). National media tend to report on cases concerning the big and often heavy questions, while the local media tend to report on questions that are important for the local democracy, which is strongly connected to what the media expect the public to care about (Sjøvaag, 2020, p. 78). We have already established the importance of identification in relation to the readers' identity-shaping, however there is another important possible factor that could contribute to identification. Humans tend to identify with people to the extent of which they can experience their emotions without being the ones to experience them. The ability to identify with other people could be a contributory factor in our identityshaping. In addition to identifying with people, the researchers Harold M. Proshansky, Abbe K. Fabian and Robert Kaminoff, claims that place-identity plays an important supporting role in what makes us able to identify with people (1983). Their theory is further explained by the Canadian geographer Edward Relph, who defines place-identity as having strong connections to specific places that contributes to increasing our ability to identify with certain people. Relph claims that "(...) to be human is to live in a world that is filled with significant places: To be human is to have and to know your place" (1976), and that "home" is the place that plays the most significant role in our lives. That could consequently be a strong identification-trigger when for instance reading about someone's experience that he/she experienced close to our home. The role of place-identity in our ability to identify with people is relevant to this thesis when discussing the effects of proximity of a case in an article to the readers' home.

2.5 Journalists as Educators – How and Why Do Readers Want to Learn?

For journalism to be successful not only economically but also socially in terms of the media's responsibility, it is crucial that the reader actually reads the articles produced by the media. The newspapers cannot force the public to be interested in news, but they can be aware of how they prefer to obtain knowledge and adjust their way of writing news accordingly. According to educational researchers we have a different way of obtaining new knowledge depending on which stage of life we are in (Illeris, 2002; Wahlgren, 2012). Children are hungry for information and devour every bit of new knowledge they can come across, due to human instinct related to them having to *learn* in order to be part of a community. As we grow older, we become more selective when deciding which new knowledge we want to obtain, because we might feel like we already know enough (Illeris, 2002). This research is relevant to the thesis because it provides knowledge about how Amedia potentially better can understand their readers' way of learning and in term possibly make it easier to fulfil their social responsibility by appealing to the readers' curiosity and willingness to learn.

Grown-ups learn when they need to learn (Wahlgren, 2012), whereas younger people are like sponges and seek out information solemnly because they still feel the need to learn something about anything. In other words, the grown-ups' motivation to learning is often connected to the need for information to achieve something, and the motivation of younger people is simply the wish to learn, because they *need* to learn. Youths and young adults are therefore somewhere in between, and their motivation could be the need for information, or it could be the willingness to still learn. The question is how should journalists write articles that appeal to both grown adults *and* young adults?

First, we should define what is meant by "grown adults" and "young adults". In Amedia, the latter is considered the readers that are under 40 years old, and the readers above 40 is considered grown adults (Jerpåsen, 2021b).

One approach that could make both grown- and young adults more willing to learn, is sparking their *curiosity*. According to the American pedagogue George Loewenstein, curiosity is an important factor that can stimulate learning (Loewenstein, 1994), and could be defined as being the driving force for learning. There are different kinds of curiosity, related to what it is that trigger our curiosity.

According to the way grown adults learn, it is simply not enough that the article in itself is informative, it has to answer some specific questions that the grown reader has a need to know to achieve something greater than "just" obtaining new knowledge. This kind of curiosity is called specific curiosity (Livio, 2017). The challenge with specific curiosity could be that when the reader finds the answer, he/she was looking for, the rest of the article might not be considered worth to read. However, this might be a challenge that is difficult to overcome due to the selective ways of grown adults obtaining new knowledge. Maybe it should not even be seen as a problem that the grown readers stop reading when he/she finds what he/she were looking for? One of the media's main social responsibilities is to facilitate public information, and if the reader feels content with the information given in the article before finishing, one could argue that it should not be a goal that the reader reads the rest of the article.

Young adults on the other hand might, to a greater extent than grown adults, need to be reassured that the information that is coming up is worth reading. In other words, the journalist might benefit from appealing to the younger reader's *epistemic* curiosity. The epistemic curiosity is the kind of curiosity that is sparked because of the lust we have of obtaining new knowledge (Livio, 2017), studied by both philosophers Immanuel Kant and Thomas Hobbes. By tempting the younger reader with information that is new to them, it might in term increase their willingness to continue reading the article. New information could for instance be writing about new topics, using new sources, using different photos or facilitating new debates about well-known topics.

The way we learn and the ways of which our curiosity could be sparked is valuable research that will be used when discussing the media's social responsibility in relation to the positive and negative consequences of the presence of - or lack of - factors that could contribute to increased engagements and sales.

3.0 Method

The thesis is based on a quantitative text analysis, which in other words means that the content of the analysis can and will be counted (Blaikie & Priest, 2019). The reason for choosing a quantitative approach to the data collection is because it is *the effects* of specific factors I want to research. That calls for counting and a statistical data collection. A central goal of the thesis is that the analysis and reflections should be able to be used by Amedia in recommending a best practise of writing climate and environment news to their newspapers. Hence making it necessary to use Amedia's internal tools as long as they are reliable. A further explanation and justification of the use of these tools will follow in this chapter.

3.1 Language

All informants and data that are part of this thesis are Norwegian, which is why all excerpts included from interviews and from the data is translated to English by the researcher (me). I have emphasized to translate as direct as possible to prevent giving any other meaning to the excerpts than what the content of it was meant to convey.

3.2 Selection

In this chapter the selection of newspapers and articles (the data base for the quantitative text analysis) will be explained and justified.

The Newspapers

Because Amedia owns 78 newspapers which publishes numerous of articles every day, there would be difficult to conduct an in-depth quantitative text analysis of all the newspapers' news articles about the climate and environment. Hence the 20 largest newspapers were selected, because they have the largest number of subscribers. By having a large number of subscribers, the articles in these newspapers might give a clearer result that is less likely to random, compares to newspapers with fewer subscribers.

These 20 largest newspapers are divided into two categories by Amedia: "VEI4" and "VEI5", where "VEI4"-newspapers have the second- and "VEI5" has the highest number of subscribers. In total these newspapers alone have about 382.000 subscribers compared to the newspapers in the categories of "VEI1", "VEI2" and "VEI3" where there is a total of about 251.000 subscribers (E. Jerpåsen, personal communication, January 4, 2021).

The year of 2020 is chosen because of the mentioned turning point of number of media spreads in Norway in 2019, and to limit the chance of the result of 2019 being a one-time case and not

representable for today's climate and environment journalism in Norway. Furthermore, it is not relevant to investigate all articles in the 20 newspapers due to the thesis being about news articles written about the topic of climate and environment. For that reason, I asked Amedia to retrieve all news articles written by hired journalists in the "VEI4"- and "VEI5"-newspapers in 2020 based on the category called "Nature and environment".

The News Articles

The news articles in the selection are in-house produced by hired Amedia-journalists. All articles published by Amedia newspapers are divided into specific categories based on the topic and overall theme of the article. The way the articles are categorized is through a Machine Learning model trained on labelled Amedia data. In an email correspondence with Igor Pipkin, the Chief Data Scientist of Amedia, he explains that the model has been made by using embeddings (representations of every word in the first 200 words in an article) as a vector to be able to categorize other articles. Based on this model and the first 200 words of every article, Amedia categorizes all content into 20 categories, one of which is "nature and environment" (I. Pipkin, personal communication, February 24, 2021) used when selecting articles to study in this thesis.

The model will in other words be able to categorize articles based on the "rules" (algorithms) the neural network has learned through training. The accuracy of the kat20 model is 88 percent, which means that for every 100 articles that the model categorizes as "nature and environment" 11 of these will be incorrectly categorized (I. Pipkin, personal communication, February 24, 2021). In conclusion, Pipkin argues that the "nature and environment" category is well defined, due to the exclusivity of the vocabulary often used in these articles: "*Even though the category [nature and environment] contains relatively few examples, the articles are so alike and differ to a great extent from other categories that the precision is very high*" (I. Pipkin, personal communication, February 24, 2021).

To be able to do an in-depth text analysis 100 articles in the category "nature and environment" that will be analysed and were retrieved from Amedia. 50 of the news articles have the highest number of readers in 2020 in its category, and 50 of the news articles have the lowest number of readers. The reason for choosing a selection of the most read articles and least read articles in the "nature and environment"-category, is to be able to discuss the effects the factors might have on engagement and sales by comparing the engagement and sales of articles that contain the factors and articles that do not contain the factors.

Another decision made in relation to the selection is to replace three articles in the 50 least read articles. This is done, because the three original articles did not fit in the selection. The first article was made to promote a live stream on the newspaper's web page and did not contain any text to analyse. The second was a reader's letter which was made in a new article format, resulting in the categorisation model not recognizing the article as a reader's letter. Reader's letters are not included in the selection, because they are written by other people who are not hired by Amedia, and do not necessarily follow press ethics. The third article could not be found anywhere and might have been unpublished. To replace the mentioned articles, the three next least read articles on the list where chosen.

Limitations of the Selection

There are some limitations in the selection that should be discussed. Firstly, by selecting articles from the largest newspapers in Amedia one could miss out on important findings that would not be found in the larger newspapers. On the other hand, considering how geographical width the larger newspapers provide, in addition to a large readership, the selection will give a sufficient basis for generalisation. Secondly, there are external factors that cannot be controlled by the newspapers such as events, and positioning on the news page, that could be a reason for an article to be read more than others. As an attempt to minimize the limitations of some of the uncontrollable external factors, the variable of "time of publishing" is included in the text analysis form. For instance, if an article has been published as the first article of the day (early in the morning), it is highly likely that article will be available for the subscribers for a longer time than other articles on the news page. As a result, the article could easier reach higher average reading time and generate more sales than other articles that are published at different times throughout the day.

3.3 The Text Analysis

To obtain the data needed to answer my research question and discuss the problem statement of this thesis, I used a quantitative text analysis. A quantitative analysis is used when the data can be counted, to achieve the goal of finding connections and structures in the data (Helland, 2013). The content and structure of the analysis will be further explained in the next subchapter.

Text Analysis Form

To analyse the selected articles, a text analysis form will be used. The form is made based on the theory of quantitative analysis introduced in "Metodebok for mediefag" (Helland, 2013), using units, variables and variable values to conduct the analysis.

The units in this thesis are the news articles, the variables are the traits I want to analyse in the article, and the variable values are the factors within the traits to be studied. The traits and factors to be analysed are chosen because they will contribute to discussing the research questions of the thesis. There are a total of 8 variables with associated variable values, which in the following paragraphs will be defined and accounted for.

Sources

Variable 1 is "sources" which are people who has been cited in an article. A citation is marked with the following quotation mark in an article: "–". A source in this case is someone who gives information to a journalist and can be interviewed and cited, or contribute with tips or background information (Allern, 2001). According to the American media researcher John McManus, the quality of the information in a news article is related to three main factors, where number of cited sources is one of them (McManus, 1994, pp. 220–221). He argues that the probability of more perspectives being included in an article increases with the amount of sources used (1994). The use of a higher number of sources could be an important factor that might affect how the reader processes and understands the case in an article. Based on that, the use of sources could influence the engagement, which is why it is relevant to count the number and kind of sources used in each article.

The variable values are chosen based on the most frequently used types of oral sources in Amedia news articles. An oral source is a person who share their opinion or views through citations in an article and could be either a first-hand source or a second-hand source. In this case, a first-hand source is someone who has been directly affected by something in which he/she speaks about in an article, whereas a second-hand source is someone who knows someone/heard about someone who has been directly affected by something and speaks about in an article (Smith-Meyer, 2020). The variable values are "Consequence source", "Expert source", "Spokesperson for a business or an association", "Jurisdiction source" and "No oral sources". The last variable value is needed, because some articles might not contain any oral sources, which in itself could lead to important findings.

A consequence source is a source that is interviewed because he or she has a direct connection to a case or/and might face consequences of the case written about in the article. A spokesperson for a business or an association is someone who does not represent themselves, but the firm, organisation etc. he or she is a part of. A source fit into this variable value if he or she is cited as being for instance a "communications manager". An expert source is someone who knows more about a specific topic than the general public and will often contribute with factual citations in articles. An example of an expert source could be a scientist or a meteorologist. In some cases, politicians have been categorised as being expert sources (Overland & Tørdal, 2018). A politician in a democracy is a person who has been chosen by part of the public to represent them as part of a political position in a society (Tjernshaugen, 2021). Politicians will not be a categorized as an expert source, because of the different roles they play in an article when being cited. Politicians are in this thesis categorized as being a jurisdiction source, which can be defined as a person with *"authority of a court or official organization to make decisions and judgments"* (Cambridge Advanced Learner's Dictionary & Thesaurus, n.d.-b). Someone is a jurisdiction source if he or she is cited as being someone who has some sort of imposed authority, whether it being a politician, a municipal adviser or a policeman. Some sources might fit into more than one category. In times of that happening it is up to the researcher to determine which role the person has in the article and choose the suitable source-category accordingly.

The News Criteria

Due to the importance of the News Criteria regarding determining whether news is news worth reporting on, it is highly relevant to identify the criteria fulfilled in the selected articles, and the frequency of their presence, which is what will be researched in variable 2 ("News Criteria"). Not all the criteria are easily defined and as consequence could be difficult to categorise. That being the case, only "conflict", "identification" and "sensation" are selected to research in this thesis.

According to Meilby "conflict" as a news criterion can be defined as often being a disagreement between two parts in an article, which is dramatic and makes it possible for the reader to take a stance (Meilby, 1996, p. 58).

"Identification" is defined as an article containing something that the reader can identify with, and there are three conditions that must be considered, to be able to say whether an article has an aspect of identification or not: Personification, social environmental- or cultural proximity and relevance. Personification of an article is to make sure you have cited *people* in the article, who the reader can identify with. Social environmental- or cultural proximity is a *place* that the reader can identify with, and relevance is about writing the article in a way that highlights the possible *consequences* the reader might face (Meilby, 1996, p. 59).

"Sensation" is defined as something sensational that has a high chance of making a strong, surprising impression on the reader (Meilby, 1996, p. 56). The news criterium "relevance" are not included as a variable value, because it is too hard to measure properly and could make it challenging to generalise findings. On the other hand, relevance is closely related to identification and will be discussed as part of the identification-variable value. The reason for choosing to collect data based on whether an article contains one, more or no news criteria, is because lack of – or the presence of – news criteria could have an effect on the engagement, sales and potentially the fulfilment of the social responsibility.

Main photo

Variable 3 is "Main photo" which is related to the photo placed at the top of an article. In Amedia-newspapers the placement is after the title and before the introduction, which makes the news photo among the two first objects the reader sees when entering a digital article.

According to researcher Andrew Mendelson, news photos can be effective memory and attention stimulators, based on the novelty of a photo. He defines "novelty" as being something unexpected and uses an example of two similar photos of a farm: In one photo, there is a tractor placed in front of the farm and in the other there is an octopus. The picture containing an octopus would be the novel photo, because we expect to see a tractor in front of a farm but not necessarily and octopus (Mendelson, 2001). His conclusion is that if a news photo has a high sense of novelty, it will be more successful in triggering the viewer's attention and memory. We are not as interested in photos containing things we have seen before and/or cannot identify with, and as a result it will not secure our attention in the same way as photos with a high novelty.

Mendelson's findings suggests that a news photo could be a great way of securing a reader's interest, which is why data related to the main photo of the selected articles is collected, to discuss in what way it could have affected engagement and numbers of sales of each article. To be able to compare the data of the main photos of the selected articles, they will be divided into 11 variable values based on the contents of the photos. The variable values are constructed based on the researcher's personal experience with the most common contents of Amedia news photos. The variable values are:

- 1. Photos containing a person
- 2. Photos containing two or more people
- 3. Photos containing an or more animals, insects, reptiles or crustaceans

- 4. Photos containing an incident
- 5. Photos containing a person/people and an animal/animals
- 6. Photos that show an overview of a place with no people in it
- 7. Photos that show an overview of a place with no people in it, and with a portrait edited on top of it and placed somewhere in the corner of the picture
- 8. Illustration photos
- 9. Surveillance footage or a photo taken of someone or something without them knowing
- 10. Photos that show a close-up of an object

Some articles do not have a main picture and are placed in the "no main picture"- variable value. Data collection of contents of main photos is important to include, because it is often one of the first things the reader sees in the article and could therefore influence the reader's interest.

The first variable value (photos containing a person) is all photos containing a person – whether taken from afar or close. A photo "containing two or more people" are photos containing two or a group of people. A photo "containing one or more animals, insects, reptiles or crustaceans" are photos containing all animals, insects, reptiles, or crustaceans. If the photo contains something that suggests that there has been an incident, it is categorized as a photo "containing an incident".

An incident is something that happens "(...) *that is either unpleasant or unusual*" (Cambridge Advanced Learner's Dictionary & Thesaurus, n.d.-a). An example of an incident would be a sunken boat or a fire. Photos "containing a person/people and an animal/animals" are just that. It could be more than two people and only one animal, or more than two animals and a human being. But they have to be in the same photo.

"An overview of a place with no people in it" are photos that are taken of a place, building or road, that is relevant to the case in the article, but have no humans or animals in it. Sometimes newspapers would use the mentioned form of photo as a background and edit a portrait of someone (human) on top of it, which brings us to the next variable value: "An overview of a place with no people in it, and with a portrait edited on top of it and placed somewhere in the corner of the picture".

Sometimes the journalist has an article, but no suitable illustration. That is when an "illustration photo" comes into play and is often bought or retrieved from the newspaper's photo archive. Other times photos can be retrieved by other measures, by for instance using "surveillance

footage or a photo taken of someone or something without them knowing". These are photos not taken by the journalist but sent to them either as a tip or by the journalist finding the photo's source and asking to use it in an article. If a photo is of something taken up close to a non-living (not an animal, insect, reptile nor human) object it is categorized as "a close up of an object".

Geographics

The proximity of the case in an article could affect the reader's ability to identify (Meilby, 1996), and as a result might impact the reader's regarding whether or not the article is worth spending time on reading. Because of this, variable 4 is called "Geographics" which is related to the proximity of the case in the article to the newspaper's location. It can be physical proximity, but it can also be proximity related to the local community's identification with the case in the article. The proximity is divided into three variable values: "Near", "close" and "far away". "Near" is if the case in the article is something that directly affect the local community. Typically, cases that has been "brought home" (to use a journalistic internal term) by the journalist, in other words, made a national case local with local sources and issues. "Far away" is if the case in the article is something that does not directly affect a great part of the local community.

The Average Reading Time

To be able to discuss readers' interest of reading an article – in other words their engagement, data related to each articles' average reading time should be collected. Hence, variable 5 is "The Average Reading Time". The average reading time is calculated automatically by Looker, which is the average time subscribers spend actively reading an article before exiting the article page (Jerpåsen, 2021a). The average reading time could be considered high when being one minute or more (Jerpåsen, 2021a), which might sound like a short time.

However, in a minute you would be able to see the main picture, read the introduction and likely also scanned large parts of the article before exiting, which means that you probably have gotten at least a decent overview of what the article is about. That is because news articles often are written by using the inverted pyramid model, where the most important information comes early in the article and the less important information later (Saakvitne, 2018). If an article is short, it is naturally a higher probability of the average reading time being lower than in a long article. With that in mind, Amedia see it as beneficial if the average reading time of

an article is high (one minute or more), because it implies that the subscribers are satisfied with the content of the article (Jerpåsen, 2021a).

Variable 5 is relevant to include, because it works as one of two measurements of engagement when discussion research question 1 and 2.

Time Of Publishing

Amedia newspapers publish digital news articles frequently throughout a working day. Some publish hourly, others less often. My time as a "frontsjef" has given me an insight into what it is that determines when an article is published. One answer is that it varies from day to day and from newspaper to newspaper, but a common argument is that the time of publishing is often highly influenced by external factors such as unexpected incidents, an increase or decrease in digital traffic, or/and the degree of exclusiveness of a case in an article. Even though one cannot state the exact reason for publishing an article at a specific time, one can discuss to what degree there are connections between publishing time and the engagement and number of sales of the selected articles. The result could give an indication of which time of the day is the most favourable in relation to achieving high engagement and sales.

At what time most use media were studied by Kantar called 24 hours, which gave an insight to the media habits of the Norwegian population in 2020. According to the survey, most people used media between 18.00 and 22.00 in 2020, with a peak hour at around 21.00 where 64 percent of the Norwegian population used media (Nergården Jortveit & Arne Futsæter, 2020, p. 35). There is also a peak hour at around 16.00, where 42 percent of the population used media, and around 10.00 where 41 percent used media (2020, p. 35). The Kantar-survey will be used when discussing the findings and research question 1.

Hence, in order to investigate whether the time spent on medias had an effect on the engagement and sales numbers, variable 6 is "Time of publishing". Time of publishing refers to when (time of day) the article has been published that day. I divided the day and following night (24 hours) into 5 time periods (variable values):

- Morning: Between 5 am and 11 am
- Lunch: Between 11 am and 1 pm
- Afternoon: Between 1 pm and 5 pm
- **Evening:** Between 5 pm and 11 pm
- Night: Between 11pm and 5am the following morning

There are little to no activity in terms of publishing new articles in the night-period, which is why the time span is longer in the last variable values compared to the other variable values.

Length

Even though every article selected is a news article, they might differ in lengths in terms of number of characters. It is necessary to collect data about the length of the articles, to be able to determine if the average reading time is high or low. Hence, variable 7 is "Length" which is related to the length of the article based on the number of characters in an article. The length of an article has been divided into three variable values: Short, medium, and long.

A short article is an article with between 500 and 2.000 characters. The articles selected are all above 500 characters, which is necessary to have enough text to analyse. An article is of medium length if the article has between 2.000 and 4.000 characters, and long if it has 4.000 characters or more. A short article has a high reading time if it is 30 seconds or more, a medium or long article has a high average reading time if it is 1 minute or more.

Number Of New, Paying Subscribers Generated

Variable 8 is "Number of new, paying subscribers generated" which refers to how many subscription sales each article in the selection generated the day it was published in the newspaper it was first published in. An article generates 1 sale if someone sign up for a subscription and reads the article as the first article after he/she signed up for the subscription. In other words: The first article a new subscriber reads, gets 1 sale, because it is considered as a direct reason for why the subscription-sale happened (Jerpåsen, 2021a). The variable values associated with variable 8 are articles that has generated between 0 and 5 sales, between 5 and 10 sales or 10 or more sales. Variable 8 is relevant to include, because it works as the measurement of engagement when discussion research question 1 and 2.

3.4 Informants, Information Letter and Declaration of Consent

The thesis is mainly based on written data and will not have any qualitative interviews. However, some background information about Amedia's history with climate news and how the articles are categorized automatically to be "nature and environment"-news, could not be obtained in any other way than through contacting two Amedia employees. According to good social research ethics, the participants in a project should be informed of their rights and what his/her participation in the project entails (Blaikie & Priest, 2019, p. 55). Blaikie also states that it is preferred to collect the consents in writing, which is why an information letter, and a

digital declaration of consent was sent to the informants per e-mail. Both informants gave me their consent to use excerpts from e-mail correspondences and phone calls if they could read though the excerpts before submitting the thesis.

3.5 Data Collection and Storage

All findings presented in the thesis has been found through analysing the 100 articles (referred to as the data) in Nvivo using coding and the matrix tools. NVivo is a program for qualitative researchers who have great amounts of textual data to analyse (The University of Oslo, n.d.), and provides the tools needed to structure, store and analyse the data in this thesis. The data the researcher import as part of a new project created in the programme, is structured using "nodes" that are divided into the variables and associated variable values defined in chapter 3.3. Nodes is in this context another word for "codes" and works as a way of structuring findings collectively, making it easier to pinpoint similarities and dissimilarities in the selected articles. The data presented as findings does not contain any person-sensitive information and has therefore been saved and stored on the researcher's personal computer.

The findings were found by using the matrix tool in Nvivo that allows the researcher to compare different codes and by using filters see patterns and dissimilarities between codes. To investigate the findings, the researcher made a different matrix for each variable and compared the variable values with number of sales generated and the average reading time of each article, which was done in two different matrixes to make it easier to analyse. See the following illustration of how the matrixes related to the articles' lengths looked like:

Article title	Small	Medium	Long	0 (No sales)	1-5	5-10	>10
Α	1	0	0	0	0	1	0
В	0	1	0	0	0	0	1

Table 1: Matrix conducted to show the relationship between the length of an article and sales generated.

Table 2: Matrix conducted to show the relationship between the length of an article and the average reading time (measured by seconds).

Article title	Small	Medium	Long	30>	30-60	>60
Α	1	0	0	0	1	0
В	0	1	0	0	0	1

Table 1 and 2 shows how the researcher easily can see that article A was a short article that generated 5-10 sales and had an average reading time of 30-60 seconds, and that article B had a medium length, generated more than 10 sales, and had an average reading time of more than 60 seconds. As the reader might see; by using the matrix tools, it is easy to compare the data, make patterns clearer and draw conclusions based on the findings.

3.6 The Method's Credibility

The Amedia group was chosen to be studied, because they own newspapers located in 11 out of 11 counties in Norway (Amedia, n.d.). That makes Amedia unique due to the media group's nationwide media coverage and provides the most representative selection of newspapers in Norway. The thesis has a quantitative data collection, which is why reliability, validity, and objectivity – collectively called credibility – should be considered.

Reliability in quantitative research is about to what extent other researcher will get the same results when following the same measures and doing the same measurements under the same conditions, and validity is to what extent the researcher can be sure that A happens because of B, and not because of anything else than B. In other words, if the measurements can be trusted to measure what they are supposed to measure (Heale & Twycross, 2015).

I would argue that the thesis has sufficient reliability, because there is a high possibility of another researcher getting the same results when measuring the same data, but it is not as likely that he/she would get the same results when measuring the data that depends on the researcher's decision-making (such an oral source should be categorized as). A thought scenario would be if another researcher with no journalistic experience using the same measurements for the data collection, and the collection being based on the same selection of articles. I have made it clear that I have experience with working as a journalist in Norwegian newspapers, which could affect the way I as a researcher see and interpret the data studied. This could in term might give another researcher with a different background slightly different results. However, due to clear, unchanging definitions of each variable and variable value that is to be studied, future results should not differ greatly from the results presented in this thesis.

Moreover, I would argue that the findings of the data selection have a high validity, because it is possible to present indications of A happening because of B, however it will not be possible to rule out the possibility of other variables being the cause of A happening. In other words: Articles might have a high engagement (A) and containing factor B, but also containing factor C, which could be just as important for the article to achieve high engagement (A) as factor B.

But it is likely that if more than one article has high engagement rates (A) and contains factor B, that factor B might be part of why the articles achieve a high engagement (A). In other words: It is likely that A happens because of B, since A – more often than not – happens when B is present. Considering the question of the ability to generalize based on the findings in the thesis, I would argue that by emphasizing breadth and objectivity in the data selection, there is a high possibility that the researcher would get similar results with a different year, and different articles. However, I cannot claim that the results are applicable for other newspapers in Norway that are not Amedia-owned. But that is not part of the goal with the thesis, which is why it will not be further discussed.

Furthermore, there is a high scientific objectivity in the methods used in the thesis. Scientific objectivity is about to what extent the researcher does not let her personal opinions and interests affect the scientific method and is by some social scientists argued to be hard to achieve. But that does not mean that the researcher should not strive to achieve it either way (Letherby, Scott, & Williams, 2013, p. 76). When choosing the selection, I used a highly objective method by studying Amedia-newspapers, because they would represent the breadth of Norwegian local media. Moreover, the newspapers that are part of VEI4- and VEI5 size category were chosen to ensure breadth in the data to be collected, the year of 2020 was chosen to ensure the data being representative compared to other years, and the articles were chosen to ensure that suitable data was collected to be able to discuss the research questions. Every choice done in terms of choosing the selection in the thesis is related to ensuring that the findings are representative for Amedia-newspapers and has nothing to do with the researcher own preferences or personal opinions.

Also, when choosing variables and variable values, the researcher has been objective, because they are included due to other researchers arguing that the variables and variable values are in fact relevant and important aspects when writing news articles, hence, making them relevant to research as part of this thesis.

4.0 Findings – The Success Factors

Specific content of each article is the basis of the data in this thesis and is collected to be able to answer just why and how some articles achieve a higher engagement and number of sales than others, in other words, answering research question 1: What are the factors that could affect the engagement in digital news articles written with climate and environment as the main theme?".

"Factors" is another word for the variable values in this thesis, which are similar/dissimilar elements or aspects of the articles that might contribute to increased engagement and sales. I want to know to what extent the factors analysed can give an answer to which effect they might have on increasing engagement and sales, and how they can be used to achieve higher engagement and sales. To be able to discuss the research question at the end of this chapter, I have constructed six statements that are based on the factors analysed which will be enlightened in this part of the thesis. The statements are necessary, because they contribute to structuring the findings in this chapter, in addition to providing a base for discussion in the discussion chapter of the thesis:

- 1. The length of articles affects the engagement and sales.
- 2. Articles containing oral sources achieve a greater engagement and generate more sales than articles containing no oral sources, and some specific oral source(s) increase the possibility of an article achieving an average reading time of 60 seconds or more and generating 10 sales or more.
- 3. Articles containing no News Criteria have a lower average reading time and number of generated sales than the articles fulfilling one or more criteria, and the higher the number of News Criteria in articles, the greater the engagement and number of sales.
- 4. Articles with main photos containing specific aspects are more likely to achieve great engagement and generate more sales.
- 5. Articles with cases that are near the local community of where the newspaper is located achieves a greater engagement and generate more sales than articles with cases that are far away.
- 6. The articles published later in the day achieve greater engagement and generate more sales than articles published in the middle of the day.

4.1 Length

The reason for discussing if the length of an article had an impact on engagement and sales is because it could contribute to better knowledge about which kinds of articles should be prioritized when deciding on format to have the best chances of gaining an economic profit. This does not mean that one format should always be preferred over the others, but it would give an indication of how Amedia-newspapers could make use of their resources in an economic efficient way. Hence, the problem statement to be discussed in this subchapter is: *The length of articles affects the engagement and sales*.

Length/ average reading time n = 100	<30 seconds	30-60 seconds	>60 seconds
Short n = 36	1	22	13
Medium n = 54	1	17	36
Long n = 10	0	0	10

Table 3: The length of the selected 100 articles compared to the articles average reading time.

By comparing the length of the articles with the average reading time each of them had, we see that it is likely that articles of medium length and long articles will be read longer than 60 seconds. It is less likely that short articles will read longer than 60 seconds. The results indicates that the articles' lengths do affect the engagement, but does it affect the number of sales generated? To discuss this, I compared the articles' lengths to the number of sales each article gained. The results are firstly that it is more likely that a short article generates 0 sales (table 4). Secondly, it is likely that articles of medium length are almost as likely to generate between 1-5 sales as to generate no sales (0). Lastly it is likely that long articles will generate between 1 to 10 sales.

Length/sales n = 100	1-5 sales	5-10 sales	>10 sales	No sales
Short n = 36	11	4	2	19
Medium n = 54	20	6	2	25
Long n = 10	5	3	0	2

Table 4: The length of the selected 100 articles compared to the number of sales the articles generated.

The table further gives data needed to do a percentage calculation to find the percentage of long, medium, and short articles that have generated sales and generated no sales:

- **Long articles:** 5+3+0/10 = 80%
- Medium articles: 20+6+2/54 = 52%
- Short articles: 11+4+2/36 = 47%

80 percent of the long articles have generated sales, and about 47 percent of the short articles have generated sales. It is more likely that short articles generate no sales than long articles. The results of the percentage calculations indicates that length of an article is likely to influence the number of sales generated.

4.2 Sources

Discussing the frequency of using different sources is important to the thesis, because it could give an indication of how decisive some might be in relation to engagement and sales, in addition to providing knowledge about whose voices in the local community readers might be more interested to read about when entering a digital article. This could in term give the newspapers an insight to which sources they should prioritize to cite when writing articles, to increase the chances of achieving high engagement and many sales. Based on this the problem statement for this subchapter is: *Articles containing oral sources achieve a greater engagement and generate more sales than articles containing no oral sources*.

By comparing the number of articles that contained one or more oral sources and their average reading times and the number of articles that contained no oral sources, we see that the only two articles that had an average reading time of 30 or less seconds had no oral sources. That could indicate that oral sources are needed to achieve an average reading time of more than 30 seconds. The comparison also indicates that articles containing consequence sources will probably be read longer than 60 seconds.

Table 5: The oral sources the selected	100		
Table 5: The oral sources the selected	TOO articles containea.	comparea to the articles	ауегаде геалінд пте.
1 dote of 1 ne of dif sources nie sereered	100 00 000000 0000000000000000000000000	companed to me differes	

Source/ average reading time n = 100	<30 seconds	30-60 seconds	>60 seconds
All	2	39	59
Consequence n = 44	0	9	35
Expert n = 9	0	2	7
Spokesperson n = 29	0	13	16
Jurisdiction n = 36	0	15	21
No oral sources n = 15	2	7	б

Based on these numbers, one could suggest that an article should contain oral sources to achieve a higher average reading time than 30 seconds. Do we get the same results when comparing sources to the number of sales generated?

Source/sales n = 100	0 sales	1-5 sales	5-10 sales	>10 sales
All	47	36	13	4
Consequence n = 39	5	28	9	2
Expert n = 16	1	9	4	3
Spokesperson n = 16	13	10	5	1
Jurisdiction n = 14	22	6	4	2
No oral sources n = 9	11	3	0	0

Table 6: The oral sources the selected 100 articles contained, compared to the number of sales the articles generated.

The results of the test show that firstly, that there are almost a 50/50 chance of an article in the "nature and environment"-category generating sales, as not generating sales. And if articles contain no oral sources, it is more likely that they will generate no sales than one sale or more. This could indicate that articles containing at least one oral source might have a greater chance of generating more sales than those not containing oral sources.

Furthermore, the table shows that 22 of the 100 selected articles contained one or more jurisdiction sources and generated 0 sales, which is significantly higher number than the articles containing other sources or no oral sources at all. This could indicate that it is more likely that articles containing one or more jurisdiction sources generate 0 sales compared to articles with other sources, or no oral sources.

The table also shows that it is more likely that articles containing one or more consequence sources will generate 1 sale or more than not generating any sales at all. We get similar results

for articles containing one or more expert sources. Based on this, it is possible that including oral sources would result in articles having a greater chance of achieving more sales than articles not containing any oral sources.

Some Sources Engage Readers More Than Others

To further discuss the effects of using sources, I wanted to investigate the possible impacts certain sources had on engagement and sales by considering the following statement: *Some specific oral source(s) increase the possibility of an article achieving an average reading time of 60 seconds or more and generating 10 sales or more.*

When writing about sources, they will from now on be mentioned in this way: (Example) "Consequence source", instead of "consequence source(s)" to make it easier to read. In other words, "consequence source" refers to one or more of this kind of source.

Source/average reading time of >60 seconds n = 85	Consequence	Expert	Spokesperson	Jurisdiction
Consequence n = 44	15 (17,6%)	6 (7,1%)	2 (2,4%)	4 (4,7%)
Expert n = 9	6 (7,1%)	1 (1,2%)	0	2 (2,4%)
Spokesperson n = 29	2 (2,4%)	0	4 (4,7%)	0
Jurisdiction n = 36	4 (4,7%)	2 (2,4%)	0	9 (10,6%)

Table 7: The combination of oral sources the 85/100 selected articles that had an average reading time of 60 seconds or longer contained.

According to the test (table 7), it is more likely that an article that contains a combination of consequence source and expert source will be read longer than 60 seconds than article

containing either spokesperson/expert or spokesperson/jurisdiction source. The table also indicate that articles containing a combination of consequence- and jurisdiction source probably will have an average reading time of 60 seconds or more, even though it is a higher probability of achieving the mentioned average reading time when using the combination of consequence- and expert source. There are no articles containing at least one of each of the oral sources, which is why the category is not included in the test. To further investigate the decisiveness of the consequence/expert combination, I did the same test on the articles with an average reading time of 30-60 seconds:

Source/average reading time 30-60 seconds n = 39	Consequence	Expert	Spokesperson	Jurisdiction
Consequence n = 9	5 (12,8%)	0 (0%)	2 (5,1%)	2 (5,1%)
Expert n = 2	0 (0%)	1 (2,6%)	1 (2,6%)	0 (0%)
Spokesperson n = 13	2 (5,1%)	1 (2,6%)	8 (20,5%)	2 (5,1%)
Jurisdiction n = 15	2 (5,1%)	0 (0%)	2 (5,1%)	11 (28,2%)

Table 8: The combination of oral sources the 39/100 selected articles that had an average reading time of between 30 and 60 seconds contained.

This test (table 8) shows that it is more likely that articles containing the combination of either consequence source and spokesperson or consequence- and jurisdiction source have an average reading time of 30 to 60 seconds, than the combination consequence/expert. This is interesting, because it might indicate that the combination consequence/expert source in articles should be prioritized to increase the probability of achieving a higher average reading time (60 seconds or more).

It is also more likely that articles containing only jurisdiction source have an average reading time of 30 to 60 seconds than articles only containing consequence source, expert source, or spokesperson. Another interesting finding is that when using only one or more consequence sources articles are likely to achieve an average reading time of 60 seconds or more (table 7). Only using jurisdiction source will probably also result in an average reading time of 60 seconds or more, even though it is not as likely as when using only consequence source.

The results of the test in table 8 further strengthen this theory, because there is a smaller share of articles containing only consequence source that was read between 30 and 60 seconds than articles containing only jurisdiction source that was read between 30 and 60 seconds. This could suggest that it is more likely that an article containing only consequence source would have an average reading time of 60 seconds or more than an article containing only jurisdiction source.

To conclude: Firstly, it is likely that articles containing the combination of consequence- and expert source achieve an average reading time of 60 seconds or more. It is also likely that articles not containing this source combination will have an average reading time of 30 to 60 seconds. Secondly, it is likely that articles containing only consequence source will achieve an average reading time of 60 seconds or more. Not only is this conclusion valid for engagement, but also sales. The following tests give an indication of how combining different sources could give a higher or lower number of sales:

Source/>10 sales n = 8	Consequence	Expert	Spokesperson	Jurisdiction
Consequence n = 2	0	2	0	0
Expert n = 3	2	0	0	0
Spokesperson n = 1	0	0	0	0
Jurisdiction n = 2	0	0	0	1

Table 9: The combination of oral sources the 8/100 selected articles that generated 10 or more sales contained.

Firstly, let us look at findings among the articles that have generated 10 or more sales. There are two articles containing only one or more expert- and consequence sources that generated more than 10 sales, compared to other combinations of sources. All other combinations – except articles containing only one or more jurisdiction source – did not generate 10 sales or more. That could indicate that it is likely that articles with this source combination generates 10 or more sales.

When considering the articles that have generated between 1 and 5 sales (table 11), we see that there is a higher number of articles with the same source combination – expert/consequence – present in the sales category than other articles with other source combinations. Even though there are only one article containing the combination that have generated between 5 and 10 sales (table 10), but in total it is a higher number of articles containing the combination that has generated sales than other combinations. This could mean that articles with only expert- and consequence source would have a greater chance of achieve a high sales payoff than other combinations.

If we look at articles using only one kind of oral source, we see that there is a high number of articles containing only consequence source that generated between 1 and 10 sales (table 10

and 11). But there are no articles using only the mentioned source resulted in more than 10 sales (table 9). This could indicate that even articles only containing one or more consequence sources could generate sales, but it might not be enough to generate more than 10 sales.

Table 10: The combination of	foral sources the	13/100 selected articles that	t apparated between 5 as	nd 10 salas contained
Tuble 10. The combination of	y orai sources me	e 15/100 selected articles that	generaiea beiween 5 ai	na 10 sales containea.

Source/5-10 sales n = 13	Consequence	Expert	Spokesperson	Jurisdiction
Consequence n = 9	5	0	0	1
Expert n = 4	0	0	0	1
Spokesperson n = 5	0	0	1	0
Jurisdiction n = 5	1	1	0	1

Table 11: The combination of oral sources the 36/100 selected articles that generated between 1 and 5 sales contained.

Source/1-5 sales n = 36	Consequence	Expert	Spokesperson	Jurisdiction
Consequence n = 28	13	4	4	3
Expert n = 9	4	1	1	1
Spokesperson n = 10	4	1	1	0
Jurisdiction n = 7	3	1	0	1

However, a source that does not seem likely to generate sales when used alone in articles is jurisdiction source (table 12). 17 articles containing only one or more jurisdiction sources generated 0 sales. Only three articles containing only the mentioned source gained sales (one article for each sales category), which further shows the likelihood of articles containing only one or more jurisdiction sources not generating sales. But even though only using consequence source in an article would likely give a higher economic profit, it could cause some ethical challenges that will be discussed in the analysis.

Source/0 sales n = 47	Consequence	Expert	Spokesperson	Jurisdiction
Consequence n = 5	2	0	0	2
Expert n = 1	0	1	0	0
Spokesperson n = 13	0	0	10	2
Jurisdiction n = 22	2	0	2	17

Table 12: The combination of oral sources the 47/100 selected articles that generated 0 (no) sales contained.

4.3 The News Criteria

The reason for analysing the presence – or lack – of the News Criteria, is because they are claimed to be a crucial part of how the commercial media prioritize news. Investigating to what extent the criteria influence engagement and sales would potentially give the Amedia-newspapers a better understanding of what their readers are more drawn to in terms of framing of content. Hence, the statement to be discussed in this subchapter is: *Articles containing no News Criteria have a lower average reading time and generate less sales than the articles fulfilling one or more criteria*.

Table 13: The presence - or lack - of News Criteria in the selected 100 articles compared to the average reading time of the articles.

News Criteria/ average reading time n = 100	<30 seconds	30-60 seconds	>60 seconds
All	2	39	59
Identification n= 78	2	29	47
Sensation n = 28	0	7	21
Conflict n = 38	0	9	29
No News Criteria n = 6	0	5	1

It is only two articles that has an average reading time of 30 seconds or less that fulfils one of the criteria (table 13). This could indicate that by making sure to fulfil one or more criteria the article would probably have an average reading time that is longer than 30 seconds. There are only six out of 100 articles containing no News Criteria, but none of them have read less than 30 seconds. This is interesting, because it would be natural to believe that in order for news to be news worth reading it should fulfil at least some of the News Criteria. It is nearly impossible to establish exactly why all of these articles had a relatively high average reading time, which is why suggestions would only be speculations that cannot be proven to be either right or wrong. Based on this, the findings related to articles containing no News Criteria is a deficient basis for further discussion.

However, what *can* be established is that it is a higher number of articles in the 30-60 and >60 category that do fulfil one or more of the criteria. Based on this observation, one could suggest that it is more likely that it will be a higher number of articles that fulfils at least one News

Criteria represented in the average reading time-categories of 30-60 and >60 seconds than articles that do not fulfil any News Criteria. But one cannot, based on the data, say with certainty that articles containing no News Criteria have a lower reading time than the articles fulfilling one or more News Criteria. However, when comparing the News Criteria with sales generated, the findings show that the one article that did not fulfil any News Criteria generated 0 sales. Hence, that could indicate that it is likely that articles fulfilling one or more criteria have a greater chance at generating sales than the articles that do not fulfil any criteria.

Some News Criteria Engage Readers More Than Others

To further discuss the effects of fulfilling more than one of the News Criteria, I wanted to investigate the possible impacts certain criteria-combinations had on engagement and sales by considering the following statement: *The higher the number of News Criteria in articles, the greater the engagement and number of sales.*

Table 14: The combination of the News Criteria in the 58/100 selected articles that had an average reading time of 60
seconds or longer.

News Criteria/ average reading time >60 seconds n = 58	Identification	Sensation	Conflict	All
Identification n = 47	13 (22,4%)	11 (19%)	19 (33%)	N/A
Sensation n = 21	11 (19%)	5 (8,6%)	1 (1,7%)	N/A
Conflict n = 29	19 (33%)	1 (1,7%)	5 (8,6%)	N/A
All n = 4	N/A	N/A	N/A	4 (6,9%)

There is a greater number of articles fulfilling the identification criterium that have an average reading time of more than 60 seconds, than an average reading time of 60 seconds or less. This could indicate that it is likely that an article that fulfils the identification criterium will have an average reading time of more than 60 seconds.

In addition to the articles fulfilling the identification criterium achieve a high average reading time, the table shows that there also is many articles fulfilling the sensation- and/or conflict criterium that have an average reading time of more than 60 seconds. Based on this, one might

suggest that it is about as likely that articles fulfilling the sensation criterium would achieve an average reading time of more than 60 seconds, as articles fulfilling the conflict criterium.

There are four articles that fulfils all three News Criteria and they have read more than 60 seconds, which could indicate that it is likely that an article will achieve a high average reading time if it fulfils all the News Criteria. However, articles fulfilling only one or two of them are also likely to have a high average reading time. Table 14 shows that there is both a high number of articles fulfilling the conflict- and identification criterium, and a high number of articles that fulfils the sensation- and identification-criterium that were read longer than 60 seconds.

The findings indicate that it is likely that articles only fulfilling the identification criterium and none of the other criteria still could achieve a high average reading time, and that the identification/conflict-combination also would result in high engagement (table 14). But does a higher number of criteria fulfilled in an article result in a greater engagement? One could argue that it does, because the only four articles that fulfilled all three criteria read more than 60 seconds. On the other hand, one could argue that it does not, because even though an article only fulfils one or tops two news criteria, it could still achieve a high average reading time. The conclusion is just as relevant when discussing the impact of the News Criteria have on sales. It is four articles containing all three news criteria that have generated sales. None of them generated 0 sales, which could indicate that articles containing all three criteria might generate sales. There are six articles that did not fulfil any of the News Criteria, and they generated 0 sales.

The findings show that by combining the sensation- and identification criterium, it is more likely that the article will generate more than 10 sales then when using other combinations. It is also likely that if you combine the sensation- and identification criterium or conflict- and identification criterium the article will generate between 1 and 10 sales. On the other hand, combining the sensation- and conflict criterium would less likely generate sales. This is an interesting finding, because of the role the identification criterium might play in increasing the chances of an article generating sales, which will be further discussed later in the thesis.

4.4 The Main Photo

The importance of photos in relation to catching the readers' attention is reason enough to investigate the impact the contents of the 100 articles' main photos might have on engagement and sales. To enlighten the topic, the following statement will be discussed in this subchapter:

Articles with main photos containing specific aspects are more likely to achieve great engagement and generate more sales.

Main photo/average reading time n = 100	<30 seconds	30-60 seconds	>60 seconds
All	2	39	59
Containing a person n = 18	0	7	11
Containing two or more people n = 17	0	12	5
Containing an animal/animals n = 23	0	9	14
An overview of a place w/no people in it the photo n = 10	1	3	6
An overview of a place w/no people in it the photo, but w/a portrait edited on top of it, placed in a corner of the photo n = 3	0	1	2
Containing an incident n = 5	0	0	5
Illustration photo n = 3	0	1	2
Surveillance footage or a photo taken of someone or something without them knowing n = 4	0	0	4

Table 15: The contents of the main photo in the selected 100 articles compared to the average reading time of the articles.

A close-up of an object n = 9	0	4	5
Containing a person/ people and an animal/animals n = 5	0	2	3
No main picture n = 3	1	0	2

The results presented in table 15 indicates that articles that have main photos containing one or more animals are likely to achieve an average reading time of more than 60 seconds. We get close to the same results for articles with main photos containing a person. Articles with main photos containing one person or people will likely achieve an average reading time of more than 30 seconds. The table further shows that it is likely that articles that have a main photo achieve an average reading time that is longer than 30 seconds. There are two articles that read less than 30 seconds. One of them had no main photo and the other one had a photo that showed an overview of a place with no people in it. This could indicate that the photos engaging readers the least (have an average reading time of less than 30 seconds) might be photos. The findings further show that articles with main photos containing animals or people might engage readers the most. This also applies to the articles that generated most sales:

Main photo/sales n = 100	0	1-5	5-10	>10
All	47	36	13	4
Containing a person n = 18	8	5	5	0
Containing two or more people n = 17	12	3	1	1

Table 16: The contents of the main photo in the selected 100 articles compared to the number of sales the articles generated.

Containing an animal/animals n = 23	9	10	2	2
An overview of a place w/no people in it the photo n = 10	6	4	0	0
An overview of a place w/no people in it the photo, but w/a portrait edited on top of it, placed in a corner of the photo n = 3	1	1	1	0
Containing an incident n = 5	0	1	3	1
Illustration photo n = 3	1	2	0	0
Surveillance footage or a photo taken of someone or something without them knowing n = 4	1	2	1	0
A close up of an object n = 9	4	5	0	0
Containing a person/people and an animal/animals n = 5	3	2	0	0
No main photo n = 3	2	1	0	0

No articles with main photos in the categories: "Containing a person/people and an animal/animals", "a close up of an object", "illustration photo", and "An overview of a place w/no people in it the photo" have generate more than five sales. This could indicate that these kinds of photos increase the possibility of generating 0 sales.

There are more articles having main photos that contain two or more people that has generated 0 sales, than generated one or more sales. It is also more articles without a main photo that have generated 0 sales than one sale. This could indicate that photos of only people or articles without main photos may not be enough to generate large amounts of sales. On the other hand, it is more likely that articles with main photos containing one or more animals generate one or more sales, than it is that they generate 0 sales. In other words, this could mean that main photos containing animals more often would result in sales than resulting in no sales.

4.5 Geography

The reason for analysing the proximity of a case in an article to the local community and which effect it could have on engagement and sales, is that it could give the Amedia-newspapers an indication of how interested their readers are in cases that is considered "near", "close" or "far away". This could in term possibly provide valuable information of how articles should be written to achieve greater engagement and number of sales. The statement that is to be discussed in this subchapter is: *Articles with cases that are near the local community of where the newspaper is located achieves a greater engagement and generate more sales than articles with cases that are far away.*

Geographics/ average reading time n = 100	<30 seconds	30-60 seconds	>60 seconds
All	2	39	59
Near n = 46	1	15	30
Close n = 31	1	15	15
Far away n = 23	0	9	14

Table 17: The proximity of a case in the selected 100 articles compared to the average reading time of the articles.
--

Table 17 shows that it is likely that articles with a case that is near to the local community have an average reading time of more than 60 seconds, and rarely 30 seconds or less. It is also likely that articles with a case that is close to the local community will have an average reading time of 30 seconds or more. There are no articles with a case that is far away from the local community that has read less than 30 seconds. There is almost the same number of articles read longer than 60 seconds that has a case that is "far away" as the articles categorised as "close". This could indicate that it is almost just as likely that articles with cases that are "close" are read longer than 60 seconds as it is that articles with cases "far away" are read as long. But it is more likely that articles with a case that is "near" are read longer than 60 seconds than articles with cases that are "close" or "far way". Hence, the findings could indicate that the statement is correct in relation to engagement, but also in relation to sales.

According to the findings, it is more likely that articles with cases that is close or far away from the local community generate 0 sales than it is that they generate more than 10 sales, and that articles with cases that are near the local community is more likely to generate more than 10 sales than articles having cases that are close or far away. This indicates that one might want to prioritize writing articles that have cases that is near the local community of the newspaper's readers to increase the probability of it generating more than 10 sales.

4.6 Publishing Time

One cannot always decide when to publish articles, because there will always be external factors that would make it necessary to publish when news happen. It could be the weather, an event, or simply that the article has been out for a long time and that the readers want to read something new. Anyhow, when the newspapers can decide the time they are publishing an article, it is natural to believe that the time that would give the best chances of high engagement and number of sales would be valuable information to consider. The time of the day might give the best economic profit will be discussed through enlightening the following statement: *The articles published later in the day achieve greater engagement and generate more sales than articles published in the middle of the day*.

Table 18: The time each of the selected 100 articles were published, compared to the average reading time of the art	icles.
--	--------

Publishing time/ average reading time n = 100	<30 seconds	30-60 seconds	>60 seconds
All	2	39	59
Morning n = 20	0	6	14
Lunch n = 17	2	9	б
Afternoon n = 23	0	9	14
Evening n = 37	0	15	22
Night n = 3	0	0	3

The table shows that it is a higher number of articles that are published in the evening that achieves an average reading time of longer than 60 seconds, and there are no articles published in the evening that is read less than 30 seconds. Articles published in the morning or afternoon are also more likely to achieve an average reading time of longer than 30 seconds than less than 30 seconds. The only two articles read 30 seconds or less are published at lunchtime. This could indicate that the subscribers might spend more time on reading articles in the evening than at lunchtime. Furthermore, it is fewer articles published at night-time and at lunchtime that have achieved an average reading time of longer than 60 seconds. Hence, by publishing articles in the evening, or even in the morning or afternoon, you might increase the chance of the articles being read longer than 60 seconds, than if you publish them at lunch- or night-time. We get almost the same results in relation to sales, where it is a higher possibility of articles generating one or more sales if published in the morning, afternoon, or evening.

The Kantar-survey about what time most of the Norwegian population used media in 2020 showed that most people tended to spend time on medias around 18.00 in the evening. The results could explain why articles published in the evening had a higher engagement and generated more sales than other articles published in other time-periods.

4.7 The Contents of an Economically Profitable Article

After discussing factors that have shown to have an effect on engagement and sales, it is time to summarize, and answer research question 1: *What are the factors that could affect engagement (the average reading time and sales) in digital news articles written with climate and environment as the main theme?*

The findings show that articles that:

- 1. Contain at least one oral source (preferably one or more consequence sources),
- 2. Contain a main photo of one or more animals,
- 3. Contain aspects of identification,
- 4. Contain a case that is near the local community,
- 5. Is published in the evening,
- 6. And is of medium length,

tend to both have a higher average reading time and generate more sales. Economically speaking, these six factors can be called success factors, because they most probably would result in an article gaining a higher profit when used. To test this theory, I looked into whether there were any articles having all six factors, and what the economic outcome was. There was only one article containing all six factors, but as predicted; it was read longer than one minute and generated four sales.

The findings show that all factors analysed potentially could influence the engagement, but why do these factors have an effect on the average reading time and sales generated, and do these factors contribute to fulfilling the social responsibility of the media? What it is that potentially could make some of the factors successful will be further discussed in the next chapter. There are factors that are too exposed to external conditions that would be almost impossible to recognise, hence, four of the six factors will be discussed in relation to how they contribute to fulfilling the social responsibility. These factors are the use of sources, main photo, the presence or lack of the News Criteria, and the proximity of a case to the local community.

5.0 Discussion – Economy Vs. Social Responsibility

In the previous chapter I established that there are six factors that might have a positive economic effect, but to what extent do they contribute to fulfilling the newspapers' social responsibility? In the next subchapters we will look at the possible positive and negative consequences related to the local newspapers' social responsibility of writing digital news articles with climate and environment as the main theme that 1. *Do* include set factors and 2. *Do not* include set factors (research question 2). Research question three will be enlightened in the last subchapter of this chapter: *Could – and in what way – a universal practise in relation to covering cases with climate and environment as the main topic contribute to both public education and increased engagement and sales?*

5.1 Sources – We Want to Read About People

Humans are by nature social creatures, which means that we are curious and *want* to know about other humans' opinions, views, and knowledge they share, which today can be easily accessed through our digital screens (Chappell & Parsons, 2021). The two professors at Brunel University London claim that our curiosity in fact has increased with the ever development of the internet and social media, and that we now more than ever are fascinated and want to know about people lives and stories (2021).

A commonly known journalist technique is to find a person that can carry the case in the article – also called *personification*, to give the case a deeper meaning and the reader a better insight (Østlyngen & Øvrebø, 1999, p. 112). The technique is frequently used in the selection of articles in this thesis by presenting a case and letting "Jens" or "Maria" tell the story: "Jens" that saw a bobcat on his way home from work, or "Maria" that was shocked by the garbage piles she saw in the city centre (made up cases due to anonymisation considerations). In other words, someone who has an experience with the case written about in an article – also known as consequence sources, that is different from other sources because they are not part of an organisation or an established business that is easily accessible to all journalists (Allern, 2001).

When using the technique of personification in articles by letting Jens or Maria be the face of a case, one might trigger emotions that could result in the reader identifying with the case more than if the article did not let Jens or Maria tell their stories. The positive effects of using consequence sources as part of the personification technique is that the reader might pay more attention to the case because he/she is able to live the life of the source when reading the article. The moment we identify with a source, our willingness to learn might also increase because

we get curious about for instance specific aspect of the story like how the source's story will end, or about what we can learn from his/her story. We *want* to read the article, because we are curious to know what happens next, and are willing to invest time to find out. As a result, we might learn something from reading the article which is why identification and triggering curiosity through personification could play an important role in fulfilling the social responsibility of providing public information.

Furthermore, sources have been claimed to be not only a key factor to take personal observations or a statement further, and develop news (Allern, 1996), but is according to the VVP also a crucial factor to how well an article provide sufficient information and whether the content of the article could be considered well-balanced (Norsk Presseforbund, 1936). Making sure that different views are expressed in an article is part of the Norwegian media's social responsibility and would most times naturally require more than one source represented in an article. 85 of the 100 articles contained at least one oral source, and only 15 out of the 100 articles did not contain any oral sources. However, more than half of the articles (54/100) contained only one kind of oral source, which was one or more consequence sources. A result of an article only containing one or more of just one kind of source, could be that it does not sufficiently facilitate debate or is as informative or balanced as it should be. This is a problem, because the social responsibility of the Norwegian media clearly states that different opinions should be presented in an article in order to fulfil paragraph 1.2 of the VVP.

Furthermore, according to Østlyngen and Øverbø using the same sources repeatedly in different articles could result in skewed representation of the society and the case as such (Østlyngen & Øvrebø, 1999, p. 276). One could argue that the claim is applicable for using the same *kind* of source in an article, because there might be other opinions and views that should have been expressed though the article to potentially making it more informative and balanced. Despite these arguments, the findings show that more than half of the 100 articles contain only one kind of source, and it is especially consequence sources that are more frequently used without any additional kinds of sources. Why? The answer might be economics.

According to the findings, articles containing at least one consequence source have a high chance of readers staying in the article for longer than one minute and generate at least 1 sale, probably between 5 and 10 (table 5). This could indicate that even when using only consequence source it is a high possibility of the article achieving high engagement in terms of both the average reading time and sales. Based on this one could argue, from on an economic

standpoint, that using only one or more consequence sources might be positive. However, due to the Norwegian media's democratic role explained through VVP (social responsibility), economy should not control the news productions. Sjøvaag and Allern sates that the Norwegian media is in general interested in fulfilling their social responsibility (2010; 2020), which is why that could be reason enough for them to use the time and resources needed to make sure that the article is as well-balanced and informative as possible. However, McManus would say that time saved is money saved, and that economic interests always will come first in commercial medias (1994). The challenge is to find the golden mean of economic profit and the social responsibility. Which changes can be made to ensure a better fulfilment of the social responsibility while still making an economic profit through personification?

One way of finding an answer could be by looking at how well the composition of two different kind of sources work together, in terms of engagement rates. According to the findings we see that the highest number of articles that have read more than one minute contained only consequence source and expert source (C/E). There was also a high number of articles that contained only consequence source and jurisdiction source, but not as high as the former combination. Considering sales, we see similar results, where articles with C/E generated at least one sale and was the only combination of two kinds of sources that generated more than 10 sales.

These findings suggest that in the article about Jens who saw a bobcat on his way home from work would potentially also achieve great engagement and sales numbers if Grethe, the Norwegian wildlife expert, was cited in the article in addition to Jens. Grethe might be able to supply the article with facts about why the bobcat was there, how normal it is to see bobcats in the area where Jens lives, and what you should do if you see one – facts that Jens probably would not be able to provide – and in term make it a more informative article. Hence, the possible positive effect of the C/E-source combination is that it might both increase the chances of achieving high engagement while still – to a greater extent than only using one kind of source – making sure that the article is well-balanced and informative, and in that way to a greater extent contributing to fulfilling the social responsibility. However, should it be a goal in itself that journalists – no matter what – should strive to make sure that only these two sources are cited in articles? I would argue that the answer is no, because it is important that sources used in an article is chosen because they are *relevant* and contribute with information, views or opinions that makes the article informative and enlightening (Norsk Presseforbund, 1936).

However, if the deadline is short and resources are scarce, and the alternative is to only include one kind of source in an article, making time to interview an expert in addition to a consequence source would probably result in a better written article in terms of social quality, than if only one source carry the case in the article. But is a two source-combination enough to fully fulfil the social responsibility, or should more sources be cited in the article? An article should contain as many different sources needed to make sure contrasting views is expressed in an article, which means that depending on the complexity of the case in an article two kinds of sources could be sufficient, or it could be insufficient. Hence, it is up to the journalist to decide whether two different kinds of sources are enough to shed light on the case from different points of views.

An article containing no oral sources could hence be argued to not contribute to fulfilling the social responsibility. However, some articles did contain no oral sources. Could it be because using no oral sources would result in a higher profit? According to the findings, the answer would be no, because 12/15 of the articles containing no oral sources generated 0 sales. A consequence of articles not containing sources could be an increased chance of them generating 0 sales in addition to probably not sufficiently fulfilling the social responsibility, which is why it could be argued that sources should be used when writing any kind of article.

To conclude, when asking the question of whether the effects of the use of sources could fulfil the social responsibility in addition to securing an economic profit, I would argue that the findings show that it can be done if one is willing to sacrifice some sales in exchange for securing social interests: Only using consequence sources might be economically beneficial, but could result in not sufficiently fulfilling the social responsibility, because the article would potentially not contain different opinions and views in relation to the case. In addition to that, 15/100 articles did not contain any sources which turned out to have a negative effect on sales and could have made it less likely that the social responsibility was fulfilled. Hence, I would recommend that the Amedia-journalists should include sources when writing articles, both because it could result in economic and social profit by potentially triggering the readers curiosity and their willingness to learn.

The journalists should always ask himself/herself the question of "why am I choosing to speak with this specific source, and are there any other sources who could enlighten a different aspect of the case that should be interviewed for the article?" Often, the answer to the last question would be "yes", and if the source you already have interviewed is a consequence source and

the source who could contribute with another point of view in the article happens to be an expert, the possibility of the article achieving higher engagement will probably increase according to the findings.

5.2 Main photo – The Influence of Animals and Faces

Photos in general tend to appeal more to our feelings than text (Tørdal, 2018), and it has actually been proven by tracking readers' eyes when seeing an article that our attention is normally first directed towards photos before we read any text (Meilby, 1996, p. 297). Hence, photos could be an effective tool to help catching the reader's attention and trigger the readers emotions and curiosity. The news photo is not only a way of documenting events, it also plays an important role in how the reader perceives and store the information about a case in an article because of the associations he/she gets when looking at the photo (Gibson & Zillmann, 2000). The effects of the main photo in an article varies based on the contents of the photos. The findings show that main photos containing one or more animals is more likely to have an average reading time of more than 60 seconds than 60 seconds or less and is more likely to generate more than 1 sale than 0 sales (table 13; table 14). Compared to the other kinds of photos, main photos containing animals are without a doubt the ones that achieved the highest engagement.

Why is it that the readers tend to buy subscriptions and spend more time reading the articles with main photos containing animals? One of the articles that achieved one of the highest average reading times and that generated 13 sales had a main photo of a wolf. It was published in newspapers that because of their location, might make the photo of the wolf novel – in other words, unexpected and surprising.



Photo: Original photo retrieved from a digital article published by an Amedia-newspaper.

Due to this, the answer to the question might be that if a photo trigger curiosity, we tend to want to learn more about the case. "Curiosity" has been defined as something derived from different internal lusts. One of them is said to be a drive we humans have to learn, that is triggered by new impulses, and that is reduced only when we obtain the knowledge that caused us to become curious (Livio, 2017). When we become curious about something, our natural response according to human psychology is to explore the source of our curiosity. This lust for information is also claimed to be an important factor in more efficient learning (Loewenstein, 1994), which makes the effects of curiosity not only positive from an economic perspective, but also potentially in relation to fulfilling the media's social responsibility. If the photo of a wolf could trigger the readers' curiosity, it might increase the chances of the readers *wanting* to obtain new knowledge through the article. However, for the social responsibility to be sufficiently fulfilled, it is up to the journalist to make sure that there is information and different opinions expressed in the article for the readers to learn something from, when they decide to explore the source of their curiosity.

The findings further show that in addition to photos of animals achieving high engagementand sales rates, main photos used in articles that contained one person was likely to achieve an average reading time of more than 30 seconds. It was also more likely that they generated more than 1 sales than 0 sales. Articles with main photos that contained two or more people were more likely to generate 0 sales than 1 or more sales (table 13; table 14). However, it is highly likely that these articles have an average reading time of 30 seconds or more and none of them were read 30 seconds or less. This could indicate that even though photos with two or more people did not generate the greatest amounts of sales compared to photos with one person, they could have influenced the readers' engagement towards spending more time reading the article.

A study has shown that photos of faces online are especially something that attracts our attention, and that these kinds of photos receives greater engagement on social media (Bakhshi, Shamma, & Gilbert, 2014). The high engagement related to the Amedia-articles and the pictures in the American researcher's study, might be connected to the readers' ability to identify with the feelings faces convey through photos. Identification can happen by for instance the reader recognising a known face, or it could even be that the person in the photo is about the same age as the reader. If the reader is able to identify with the person/people in the photo, it could in term trigger their curiosity to read more of the article. Hence, using main photos containing one or more people could potentially have a positive effect on the readers' engagement.

But would using pictures of people contribute to fulfilling the social responsibility of the media? Indirectly it would, if it succeeded in triggering the reader's curiosity and willingness to learn by reading parts or the whole article. It could also contribute to democracy and identity-shaping, by showing the diversity in a local community through photos of the people living in it. However, one could argue that using photos of people could also have a negative effect in relation to the fulfilment of the social responsibility, by for instance regularly publishing photos of elderly people and males and rarely younger people and females. This could in term contribute to a skewed representation of the society, which would not be beneficial for the democracy and the public's identity-shaping. Based on these reflections, a recommendation could be that photos of people should be used with an awareness of the possible effects they could have on readers.

When looking at the articles not having a main photo at all, we see that this factor could have a negative effect on sales. 2/3 articles having no main picture generated 0 sales, which could indicate that to increase the chances of new readers subscribing, the article should have a main photo. On the other hand, 2/3 articles had an average reading time of more than one minute, which could indicate that readers do not necessarily demand a main photo in order to be interested in spending time reading the article. However, in general articles having main photos tend to be read longer than 30 seconds and generate more sales, which probably makes the consequences of having no main photo more negative than positive – economically speaking. Considering the social responsibility there are no clear guidelines considering the use of photos specifically. However, one could argue that photos used should contribute to making the article more informative and contribute to the public's identity-shaping, to further fulfil the social responsibility.

To conclude, we have seen that the articles having main photos is economically beneficial. And the findings show that it is especially economically beneficial to use photos that contain either animals or faces. These photos could be argued to also be socially beneficial if used to trigger the readers curiosity and willingness to learn, and/or contribute to the public's identity-shaping. However, should journalists always use main photos containing either faces or animals? If the photo contributes to additional information that cannot be provided through text and/or could work as an attention grabber, it could be argued to be beneficial to use the photo to makes the reader more willing to learn because they become curious to know more about the case. On the other hand, one cannot claim that it would always be relevant to use such a photo. According to the – at the time – Norwegian lecturer Anders Rosenqvist at Oslo University College, a

successful news photo is a photo that documents to its best abilities (Løberg, 2011). Hence, one could argue that from a social point of view the journalist should always use a main photo that documents the reality of the case in an article in the most accurate way, and also providing additional knowledge or information that is necessary to trigger the public's curiosity.

5.3 The News Criteria – Guidelines, But No Recipe

We have discussed how our curiosity and emotions can be triggered through personification, due to specific factors in an article such as sources and photos used. Are there other factors that could be just as important in triggering curiosity and emotions? For news to be considered news they should according to Meilby fulfil at least one News Criteria (1996). The criteria (identification, conflict and sensation) are never written in plain text in an article, but are an important part of how an article comes to be and is perceived by the reader (1996). We have established that our curiosity is commonly known to be the key to why we want to learn, and by paying attention to the effects the News Criteria could have might be important to tempt readers into reading and learning.

According to the findings, there are no doubt that the presence of News Criteria is crucial to achieving high engagement and generate sales. The negative consequence of the articles not containing any News Criteria is that they generated 0 sales and were read less than a minute (table 11). Compared to articles that fulfilled all three criteria, they were not as economically successful. The articles fulfilling all criteria generated at least 1 sale and were read longer than one minute, which economically speaking shows that the presence of News Criteria positively affects the engagement- and sales numbers. Also combining two criteria has been shown to be a success for increased chances of gaining a profit, where the identification criterium could be the decisive factor.

Our ability to identify with people, places, or topics is an important part of our identity-shaping process (Erikson, 1994). Presenting cases that show the public what roles they could have in a society is part of the social responsibility (Orgeret, 2020), and also part of identity-shaping (Cohen, 2001). When reading about things we identify with, it could result in us reflecting upon issues that we otherwise would not have paid much attention to, because we feel an emotional attachment to the case. This emotional attachment could in term have influential power in shaping the way we think, talk and act (Cohen, 2001), in other words; in shaping our identity. What it is that makes us identify with certain aspects of texts will be further discussed in the chapter about the proximity of a case in an article to the reader.

The two other criteria (sensation and conflict) could in a way be seen as tools to be able to fulfil the social responsibility in relation to both facilitating debate, uncovering illegalities, and making sure to maintaining freedom of speech. Without them, the publics curiosity might not be triggered and could result in them not reading the article. That is a problem, because the media are depending on the public's interest in reading the news they publish in order to fulfil their social responsibility (Sjøvaag, 2020). However, there are some challenges with the criteria considering fulfilling the social responsibility that should be discussed. If the criteria are to be seen as the threshold for all cases to become news, we might have an issue at our hands. There is a possibility that there are important cases in the society that should be reported on to fulfil the social responsibility, but that do not fulfil the criteria. The question is then, should the case be made news?

Economically speaking; probably not, however, socially speaking; absolutely. If a case is of public interest, it should according to the VVP be reported on to ensure that the media fulfils their social responsibility. Based on the VVP's explanation of the Norwegian media's duties on behalf of the society, one could argue that the criteria should be *guiding* and not *deciding*. Sjøvaag did a study about the variety of cases the Norwegian media covers on a daily basis, and found that they in total contribute to presenting a diverse news picture (Sjøvaag, 2020, p. 78). The results of the study could indicate that the News Criteria are indeed guiding tools of choosing the framing of an article but does not necessarily hinder cases in being reported on. However, newspaper might benefit from searching for aspects in cases that could fulfil some of the criteria to not only generate more sales, but because they have qualities that could trigger curiosity and contribute to the readers' increased willingness to learn by reading the article – such as the identification criterium. Triggering the readers' curiosity and their willingness to learn could be argued to be important to ensure public education by providing needed information. As a result, triggering curiosity though fulfilling one or more of the News Criteria could contribute to fulfilling the media's social responsibility.

5.4 Geography – We Care About What Happens Close to Home

Jens is on his way home from work when he saw something in the forest, close to his home in Nameless town. He thought to himself "this must be one of the rare cases!" and took a photo of the bobcat. He looked forward to showing his kids the photo and felt like he had witnessed something special that he would remember for a long time. Let us pretend that Jens also sent the photo to the local newspaper in Nameless town and the text you just read was an excerpt of the article written about the event. Like Jens, you also live in Nameless town. Could you identify with any of Jens' emotions? Our ability to identify with a case in an article is strongly dependent on our ability to forget ourselves for a moment and live the life and feel the emotions of someone else, which allows us to experience something we have not experienced in real life – also called vicarious experience (Cohen, 2001).

Identification through vicarious experience is important, because it contributes to identityshaping through expanding our social perspectives and emotional spectrum (Cohen, 2001). Jens could make the readers feel the emotions he feels through telling a story that could just as well have happened to you, which in term could result in you identifying with Jens. Not only because Jens' storytelling contains emotions that you can relate to, but because it happened close to your home. Let us pretend that Nameless town is the town of where the local newspaper has its headquarters and where a great amount of their readers lives. Jens telling about his experience with seeing a bobcat close – or even in – the hometown of most of the newspapers' readers could be a way of making the readers identify with Jens.

Articles written with a case that is considered near in proximity to the local community (which is the closest of the three categories), was mostly read longer than a minute and was the only ones that generated more than 10 sales. This could indicate that in addition to wanting to read about people, we want to read articles about things happening close to home because we might be able to identify to a greater extent with the people in the article. However, another interesting finding is that articles that were written with a case that was far away, but with the use of local sources brought it closer to home, where also likely to be read longer than one minute and were also more likely to generate more than one sale than 0 sales. An example of a case that would be considered far away, but was brought closer to Nameless town by using local sources:

A new national law forbids people to hunt for bobcats. Jens from Nameless town is used as a consequence source in the article telling the stories of how he every day has seen the same bobcat on his way home from work and how he is glad the law is introduced. This is a way of "bringing the case home" to the local community by using a local oral source to react to- or share his opinions about the law, which in term could increase the possibility of readers identifying with the case even though it is technically not close to home. This technique that could make it easier to economically justifiable to write about big national questions could also have a positive effect on fulfilling the social responsibility, because it could contribute to public

information in relation to the national democracy – and not only the local democracy. However, articles with cases that are near the local community are more likely to both generate more sales and achieve high engagement than cases that are close or far away, in other words; Writing articles with a case that is near the local community might to a greater extent have a positive effect from the economic point of view.

Despite this, always striving to keep the production of articles to cases that are near, might limit the educational benefits the reader should get from reading articles. In other words, the newspaper might limit the possibility of sufficiently fulfilling the social responsibility by only reporting on cases that are nearby. In conclusion, Amedia-newspapers should not only report on cases that are nearby, even though it might result in a better economic profit, but should aim to bring larger questions closer to the local society by making sure different local views and opinions are expressed to increase the fulfilment of the social responsibility. However, the cases that are nearby are just as important for the local democracy by keeping the public informed about policies that might affect them. Hence, a balance between cases that are nearby, close, and far away could give the best result in terms of fulfilling the social responsibility.

5.5 The Commercial Universal Practise

We are surrounded by universal practices every day and differ from industry to industry. In some industries a universal practise is crucial for the operation. For instance, ambulance workers have a universal practise they follow when arriving at an accident, train workers when they arrive at and depart from stations, and teachers when they make sure the students are being taught what they should when they should. Universal practices are everywhere, even if we are not aware of them. In the last subchapters we have looked at factors that could contribute to increased engagement and sales, and how they might increase or decrease the ability for an article fulfilling the newspapers' social responsibility. In some industries universal practises are important and even crucial as part of the operational machinery. However, could it be argued that such a practise would be beneficial or even necessary in the media world? And could a combination of the success (economically speaking) factors discussed in the previous chapters be part of a universal practise for all Amedia-newspapers?

Based on these questions, the third research question will be discussed in this chapter: Could - and in what way - a universal practise contributes to both public education and increased engagement and sales? According to Luhmann, media is already operating based on inner systems, through deciding which topics to write about, who to interview, and the framing of articles – in other words, that they are operating based on a system-theory. Luhmann's theory criticises the media for creating what he calls a self-referential functional system, where actors have to adapt to the media's inner logic to get attention (Luhmann, 2013). However, the VVP was made in order to prevent unbalanced and biased articles being exposed to the public, but that does not mean that the media do not have inner selective systems they work by.

Systems based on how the media select topics and cases to report on do not necessarily have to be negative. By having such systems, the media can secure diversity in deciding whose voices are being heard and which topics are being reported on. However, one cannot overlook the possibility of profit speaking louder than the media's social responsibility in choosing the cases to report on. Fulfilling the social responsibility is not cheap and demands resources (Sjøvaag, 2020), and one would be naïve to believe that cases that the media knows has a higher probability of generating sales and engagement never are prioritized when the resources are few. On the other hand, the VVP is there to ensure that once the cases are chosen, the sources interviewed are relevant and that the ethical regulations are being followed, which is why the inner system, or a best practise, of the media related to choosing cases might be argued to be necessary more than something that is unwanted.

There is already a practise introduced by NRK which is an example of how the social responsibility of writing articles about the climate and environment can become part of a universal practise. The strategy is clear about what the NRK editorial offices should strive to achieve when producing news about the topic. However, it does not specifically mention which factors should be included in order to follow the guidelines of the strategy into action through producing news. On the other hand, it is understandable that NRK has been as general in their guidelines as they have, because they have – like Amedia – editorial offices all over Norway and different audiences to appeal to, which could make it challenging to have a more specific strategy that would be beneficial to all offices.

But what if one were to be a just a little more specific than NRK in suggesting some factors to include in articles that possibly would increase engagement and number of sales, in addition to contributing to sufficiently fulfilling the media's social responsibility?

I would argue that a commercial universal practise's goal would be to suggest a best possible way of writing climate news that could result in an increase in both economic and social profit, and as we have seen in the previous chapters, we have considered the factors that might result in economic profit and discussed the likelihood of them being effective to increase engagement- and sales. We established that it is likely that some factors are more efficient to secure an economic profit than others, and hence them being part of a universal practise as part of recommendations considering how to write economically profitable articles about the climate and environment might contribute to increased engagement and sales. However, I would argue that it is not desirable that one should always make sure that all success factors are included in every article published about the climate and environment, but in the cases where it is appropriate to include at least some of them one should strive to do so. The factors could contribute to public education if they are seen as tools to encourage learning, but not if merely considered a mean to selling articles.

6.0 Conclusion

Through this thesis we have established that there are six specific factors that possibly could increase the chances of higher engagement and number of sales when used in articles. These factors are called success factors and consisted of articles that contained at least one oral source (preferably one or more consequence sources), a main photo of one or more animals, aspects of identification, a case that is near the local community, was of medium length published in the evening. The findings supported the theory of the effects of the success factors, because the one article that contained all factors had achieved great engagement and number of sales.

Furthermore, four of the six success factors were discussed in relation to how well they potentially would contribute to fulfilling the local newspapers' social responsibility. The discussion showed the importance of being able to trigger emotions, curiosity, and identification to increase engagement, to increase the readers willingness to learn and making the news part of their agenda of choice. Readers' willingness to learn is crucial for the newspapers to be able to fulfil their social responsibility, because if the public does not read the news the newspaper publish, the social responsibility cannot be fulfilled. If the public is not being provided with the information needed to take part in important aspects of the society, it could have negative consequences for the democracy.

The discussion also showed the importance of using the success factors as tools and not as a recipe for writing articles about the climate and environment, because they will not always be suitable to use for every article. Hence, I would argue that the best practise should contain the success factors and a recommendation of using them wisely, by considering how it would affect the potential of triggering the readers' curiosity through emotions and identification and resulting in them wanting to learn something from reading the article.

The problem statement of this thesis is: "The commercial media house Amedia would benefit from having a research-based universal practise for their local newspapers in relation to writing articles with climate and environment as the main topic, because it would contribute to fulfilling their social responsibility and generate more engagement and sales".

If the balance between the newspapers' mentioned economic (success factors) and social interests can be achieved, I would argue that a universal practise for the Amedia-newspapers would be beneficial.

Finally, it is important to note that the world of news is immense and ever changing with external and internal factors that I as a researcher cannot recognise or foresee, and there will always be a possibility of other factors influencing the economy and how the social responsibility is being considered at different times. However, the fact that there might be some specific factors that increases the possibility of higher engagement and number of sales has previously only been based on experience: Six factors investigated in 100 Amedia-articles about the climate and environment have now been empirically proven to possibly influencing engagement and sales. Based on this, I would argue that the topic is important to discuss to shed light on one of the greater challenges the media faces today with the way the public uses technology, how the readers' attention is harder to hold onto, and the increasing urgency of ensuring sufficient coverage of climate and environment news.

This master thesis has scratched the surface of a topic that should be further researched to achieve a better understanding of all the factors that could influence the way articles are written and will be written about the local climate and environment in the future, to make sure that both economic and social interests are considered.

References

Aaberge, A. (2018, May 9). Målgruppe, kanaler og markedsføring [National Digital Learning Arena]. Retrieved March 23, 2021, from NDLA website: https://ndla.no/subject:1/topic:1:186479/topic:1:186487/resource:1:165174

Aalberg, T., & Elvestad, E. (2005). *Mediesosiologi*. Oslo: Det Norske Samlaget.

- Aarli-Grøndalen, R. (2021, June 9). Expressen legger ned klima-redaksjonen: Sakene leses ikke godt nok. *Journalisten.no*. Retrieved from https://journalisten.no/a/443119
- Allern, S. (1996). Kildenes makt: Ytringsfrihetens politiske økonomi (2nd ed.). Oslo: Pax Forlag.
- Allern, S. (2001). *Nyhetsverdier: Om markedsorientering og jounalistikk i ti norske aviser*. Kristiansand: IJ-forlaget: Høyskoleforlaget.
- Allern, S., & Roppen, J. (2010). Journalistikkens samfunnsoppdrag. Kristiansand: IJ-forlaget.
- Amedia. (n.d.). Aviser og nettsteder. Retrieved March 22, 2021, from https://www.amedia.no/virksomheten/vare-mediehus/
- Bakhshi, S., Shamma, D. A., & Gilbert, E. (2014). Faces engage us: Photos with faces attract more likes and comments on Instagram. *Proceedings of the SIGCHI Conference on Human Factors in Computing Systems*, 965–974. Toronto Ontario Canada: ACM. https://doi.org/10.1145/2556288.2557403
- Blaikie, N. W. H., & Priest, J. (2019). Designing social research: The logic of anticipation. Cambridge, UK ; Medford, MA: Polity.
- Brurås, S. (2010). Anti-festskrift til norsk presseforbunds 100-aarsjubileum (P. E. Kokkvold, Ed.). Kristiansand: Norsk presseforbund; IJ-forlaget.
- Cambridge Advanced Learner's Dictionary & Thesaurus. (n.d.-a). Incident. In *Cambridge Dictionary*. Cambridge University Press. Retrieved from https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/incident
- Cambridge Advanced Learner's Dictionary & Thesaurus. (n.d.-b). Jurisdiction. In *Cambridge Dictionary*. Cambridge University Press. Retrieved from https://dictionary.cambridge.org/dictionary/english/jurisdiction
- Chappell, A., & Parsons, J. (2021, January 22). How COVID, lockdown and isolation has fuelled our interest in the lives of others [Digital arena for debate and knowledge exchange]. Retrieved May 8, 2021, from The Conversation website: http://theconversation.com/how-covid-lockdown-and-isolation-has-fuelled-ourinterest-in-the-lives-of-others-144033

- Cohen, J. (2001). Defining Identification: A Theoretical Look at the Identification of Audiences With Media Characters. *Mass Communication and Society*, 4(3), 245–264. https://doi.org/10.1207/S15327825MCS0403_01
- Enli, G., Smith-Meyer, T., & Syvertsen, T. (2020). NRK. In *Store norske leksikon*. Retrieved from http://snl.no/NRK
- Erikson, E. H. (1994). Identity, youth and crisis. New York: Norton.
- Falnes, J. (2020, February 9). Medieanalyse: Klimadekningen nådde vendepunkt i 2019. *Journalisten.no*. Retrieved from https://journalisten.no/a/399197
- Garvik, O. (2020). Amedia. In Store norske leksikon. Retrieved from http://snl.no/Amedia
- Garvik, O., & Tjernshaugen, A. (2019). Greta Thunberg. In *Store norske leksikon*. Retrieved from http://snl.no/Greta_Thunberg
- Gibson, R., & Zillmann, D. (2000). Reading between the Photographs: The Influence of Incidental Pictorial Information on Issue Perception. *Journalism & Mass Communication Quarterly*, 77(2), 355–366. https://doi.org/10.1177/107769900007700209
- Habermas, J. (2006). Political Communication in Media Society: Does Democracy Still Enjoy an Epistemic Dimension? The Impact of Normative Theory on Empirical Research1. *Communication Theory*, *16*(4), 411–426. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-2885.2006.00280.x
- Heale, R., & Twycross, A. (2015). Validity and reliability in quantitative studies. *Evidence Based Nursing*, 18(3), 66–67. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102129
- Helland, K. (2013). Metodebok for mediefag. Bergen: Fagbokforlaget.
- Illeris, K. (2002). Unges læring, identitet og selvorientering. *Nordic Studies in Education*, 22(02), 65–87.
- Jacobs, M. H. (2009). Why Do We Like or Dislike Animals? *Human Dimensions of Wildlife*, 14(1), 1–11. https://doi.org/10.1080/10871200802545765
- Jerpåsen, E. (2021a, January 8). Amedia and climate and environment news [Zoom].
- Jerpåsen, E. (2021, April 1). Samtykke og abonnementsinformasjon-Masteroppgave.
- Jerpåsen, E. (2021b, April 15). Quick Exit And Sales [Phonecall].
- Kjendsli, V. (2008). Rett på sak! Lærebok i praktisk journalistikk. Kristiansand: IJ-forlaget.
- Letherby, G., Scott, J., & Williams, M. (2013). *Objectivity and subjectivity in social research*. Los Angeles, California; London: SAGE.
- Livio, M. (2017). *Why?: What makes us curious*. Retrieved from https://books.google.no/books?hl=no&lr=&id=aukqDwAAQBAJ&oi=fnd&pg=PP11

&dq=emotion+triggers+to+make+us+curious&ots=OkjKOYWdsb&sig=mzhxM0sdp Byggfl63yywaFyHjFM&redir_esc=y#v=onepage&q&f=false

- Løberg, M. M. (2011, July 9). Hva er et godt fotojournalistisk bilde? *Fotografi*. Retrieved from https://www.fotografi.no/arkiv/hva-er-et-godt-fotojournalistisk-bilde
- Loewenstein, G. (1994). The psychology of curiosity: A review and reinterpretation. *Psychological Bulletin*, *116*(1), 75. https://doi.org/10.1037/0033-2909.116.1.75
- Luhmann, N. (2013). *Introduction to systems theory* (D. Baecker, Ed.; P. Gilgen, Trans.). Cambridge, UK; Malden, MA: Polity. Retrieved from file:///C:/Users/julia/Downloads/Introduction%20to%20Systems%20Theory%20by% 20Niklas%20Luhmann%20Peter%20Gilgen%20(z-lib.org).pdf
- McManus, J. H. (1994). *Market-driven journalism: Let the citizen beware?* Thousand Oaks, Calif: Sage Publications.
- Meilby, M. (1996). Journalistikkens grundtrin: Fra ide til artikel. Århus: Forl. Ajour.
- Mendelson, A. (2001). Effects of Novelty in News Photographs on Attention and Memory. *Media Psychology*, 3(2), 119–157. https://doi.org/10.1207/S1532785XMEP0302_02
- Nergården Jortveit, S., & Arne Futsæter, K. (2020). Kantar 24-timer (pp. 1–145).
- Norsk Presseforbund. Vær Varsom-plakaten., (1936).
- Norsk Presseforbund. (2015, June 12). Pressens etiske regelverk. Retrieved May 3, 2021, from Norsk Journalistlag website: https://www.nj.no/journalistikk-og-etikk/pressensetiske-regelverk/
- Norsk Rikskringkastning. (2020, January 14). *Innholdsstrategi klima NRK*. Journalisten.no. Retrieved from https://journalisten.no/files/2020/01/28/Innholdsstrategi%20klima%20NRK.pdf
- Orgeret, K. S. (2018a). Nyhetskriterier. In *Store norske leksikon*. Retrieved from http://snl.no/nyhetskriterier
- Orgeret, K. S. (2018b). Pressens faglige utvalg. In *Store norske leksikon*. Retrieved from http://snl.no/Pressens_faglige_utvalg
- Orgeret, K. S. (2020). Journalistikk. In *Store norske leksikon*. Retrieved from http://snl.no/journalistikk
- Østlyngen, T., & Øvrebø, T. (1999). *Journalistikk: Metode og fag*. Oslo: Ad notam Gyldendal.
- Overland, J.-A., & Tørdal, R. M. (2018, November 14). Nyhetskriterier [National Digital Learning Arena]. Retrieved March 23, 2021, from NDLA website:

https://ndla.no/nb/subject:14/topic:1:185036/topic:1:125903/resource:1:6288?filters= urn:filter:94dfe81f-9e11-45fc-ab5a-fba63784d48e

Pipkin, I. (2021, February 24). Masteroppgave.

- Postman, N. (1985). Amusing Ourselves to Death. *ETC: A Review of General Semantics*, 42(1), 13–18.
- Proshansky, H. M., Fabian, A. K., & Kaminoff, R. (1983). Place-identity: Physical world socialization of the self. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 3(1), 57–83. https://doi.org/10.1016/S0272-4944(83)80021-8

Relph, E. C. (1976). Place and placelessness. London: Pion.

Retriver, & Norad. (2020). Norsk klimajournalistikk—2010-2020 (pp. 1–30) [Analysis]. Norway. Retrieved from https://f.hubspotusercontent40.net/hubfs/8317147/Norway/Reports/Norskklimajournalistikk-2010-2020.pdf?hsCtaTracking=bc1748a4-3be6-4783-8bc5-9a8f302adea2%7Ca2a7cd90-5e6d-4a66-8ce5-94aff3c806ed

- Saakvitne, J. (2018, April 15). Journalistiske skrivemodeller [Nasjonal Digital Læringsarena]. Retrieved May 26, 2021, from NDLA website: https://ndla.no/nb/subject:14/topic:1:103867/topic:1:103870/resource:1:68998?filters =urn:filter:ee84a147-0472-4fc6-832b-704faefa2ff0
- Sjøvaag, H. (2020). Journalistikkens problem. S.l.: Universitetsforlaget.
- Smith-Meyer, T. (2020). Kilde (opphav). In *Store norske leksikon*. Retrieved from http://snl.no/kilde_-_opphav
- The University of Oslo. (n.d.). NVivo. Retrieved March 26, 2021, from The University of Oslo website: https://www.uio.no/tjenester/it/forskning/datafangst-og-analyse/nvivo/index.html
- Tjernshaugen, A. (2021). Politiker. In *Store norske leksikon*. Retrieved from http://snl.no/politiker
- Tørdal, R. M. (2018, March 13). Bilder i bruk [Nasjonal Digital Læringsarena]. Retrieved May 11, 2021, from NDLA website: https://ndla.no/subject:1/topic:1:172416/topic:1:172650/resource:1:113156?filters=ur n:filter:980866f7-3bf5-429c-ba7a-f91a6cb37f9f
- Wahlgren, B. (2012). Voksnes læreprocesser kompetenceudvikling i uddannelse og arbejde.København: Akademisk Forlag.